UCSF UC San Francisco Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation of slow synaptic inhibition in hippocampus

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/88197082

Author Huang, Shen Cindy

Publication Date 2005

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation of slow synaptic inhibition in hippocampus

by

Shen Cindy Huang

DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in Oral and Craniofacial Sciences

in the

GRADUATE DIVISION

of the

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN FRANCISCO

Date

University Librarian

...

11.00

<u>م</u>. ۰. ۳

the state

Degree Conferred:

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my advisor, Lily Jan. She has been so helpful and supportive in past 5 years. I always admire her passion to science and graceful personality. I would also like to thank my thesis committee members Peter Sargent, Roger Nicoll and Mark von Zastrow for their excellent suggestions on the project and thesis writing. And many thanks to all Jan lab members, especially Songhai Shi, Kimberly Raab-Graham, Keli Hu, Delphine Bichet, Alex Fay, Patrick Haddick, Friederike Haass, Helen Lai, and Toral Surti. I would never be where I am now without your help and encouragement. I hope I never have to leave this wonderful lab and people. I learned so much from every one of you on science and everyday life. And finally, I would like to thank my family and my husband, Wilson. Without their love and support, I would not be able to overcome the obstacles I have encountered.

4.1

Abstracts

Synaptic plasticity, the cellular correlate for learning and memory, involves a number of molecules that reside in the dendritic spine. For example, long-term potentiation (LTP) of the excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC) is induced by postsynaptic NMDA receptor and Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CaMKII) activity. Intrigued by recent findings that dendritic spines also harbor the metabotropic GABA_B receptor for the major inhibitory transmitter GABA, as well as its downstream effector the G protein-activated inwardly rectifying K⁺ (GIRK) channel, we wondered whether pairing glutamate release with postsynaptic depolarization would affect the slow inhibitory postsynaptic current (sIPSC) mediated by GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels. Remarkably, we found that the same signaling pathway for inducing LTP of the EPSC also potentiated the sIPSC. Moreover, in mice lacking Nova-2, which is targeted in paraneoplastic opsoclonus myoclonus ataxia (POMA) patients and binds RNAs for synaptic inhibition.

iii

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Materials and methods	21
Results	24
Figure legends	88
Discussion and future directions	94
References	102



••

List of Figures

Figure 1. Endogenous GIRK2 immunofluorescence in spines
Figure 2. Pathway in the spine for inducing LTP of the EPSC
Figure 3. GIRK channel blocker SCH23390 and APV blocked biphasic response43
Figure 4. Tertiapin also eliminated the sIPSC44
Figure 5. The sIPSC was sensitive to the GABA _B receptor antagonist SCH5091145
Figure 6. No correlation between the size of the NMDA-R EPSC and the amplitude of the
sIPSC46
Figure 7. The amplitude of sIPSC reduced after blocking NMDA mediated EPSC47
Figure 8. Hippocampal slice culture with fairly stable baseline of sIPSC and NMDAR-
EPSC
Figure 9. Pairing protocol potentiated the sIPSC, but not NMDA-R EPSC in slice culture.
Figure 10. The NMDA-R EPSC decay time remained constant after pairing50
Figure 11. Pairing induced LTP of the sIPSC as assessed by integrating the sIPSC
amplitude over time
Figure 12. No correlation between the amplitude and the extent of potentiation of the
sIPSC
Figure 13. No correlation between sIPSC potentiation and the NMDA-R EPSC
amplitude
Figure 14. Acute hippocampal slice from p15-20 animals exhibited gradual depression of
sIPSC54

••

•1. e

-

Figure 15. No sIPSC potentiation was observed in acute slices from p15-20 animals55
Figure 16. Acute hippocampal slice from p25-30 animals exhibited slight rundown of the
sIPSC
Figure 17. Pairing-induced potentiation of the sIPSC in acute slices from p25-30 animals
57
Figure 18. The potentiated sIPSC was sensitive to the GABA _B receptor antagonist
SCH50911
Figure 19. The potentiated sIPSC was also sensitive to the GIRK channel blocker
SCH23390
Figure 20. No pathway specific of sIPSC potentiation was observed
Figure 21. Treatment of slice culture with APV as well as NBQX reduced both EPSC and
sIPSC amplitudes and eliminated LTP of the sIPSC61
Figure 22. No depolarization failed to induce sustained potentiation of the sIPSC62
Figure 23. Treatment with the NMDA receptor antagonist APV but not the AMPA
receptor antagonist NBQX eliminated LTP of the sIPSC63
Figure 24. BAPTA in the pipette solution abolished LTP of the sIPSC64
Figure 25. Pairing-induced sIPSC potentiation persisted in the presence of the CB1
receptor antagonist65
Figure 26. Pairing did not alter the paired pulse ratio of the fIPSC
Figure 27. Slightly depression of fIPSC was observed after pairing
Figure 28. No persistent potentiation was found with PKC inhibitor
Figure 29 sIPSC potentiation is still observed with case in kinase II inhibitor 69

ι,

tu:: ⊮`` ₽~ \$3

. Г. (., 13)

11.2°°.÷

- 5

-`

۰. ب

س م تمريح

.

Figure	30. The CaMKII inhibitor KN-93 prevented pairing-induced sIPSC potentiation
Figure	31. Images of CA1 neurons expressing CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP and pair-wise
	recording from one infected neuron and a nearby uninfected neuron
Figure	32. Expression of constitutively active CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP potentiated sIPSC
	but not NMDA-R EPSC72
Figure	33. Expressing of EGFP and nearby uninfected neurons revealed no difference in
	sIPSC or NMDAR-EPSC73
Figure	34. No further potentiation of the sIPSC in neurons expressing constitutively
	active CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP74
Figure :	35. PCR with 2 pairs of specific primers determined the genotype of litters75
Figure :	36. Normal amplitude and frequency of miniature fIPSC in Nova-2 null mice76
Figure	37. Similar ratio of sIPSC and fIPSC in heterozygous and Nova null animals77
Figure	38. Similar ratio of sIPSC and NMDA-R EPSC in heterozygous and Nova-2 null
	mutant
Figure :	39. Nova-2 null mice exhibited no pairing-induced sIPSC potentiation
Figure 4	40. Normal amplitude and frequency of miniature EPSC in Nova-2 null animals
Figure 4	41. Normal ratio of AMPA-R EPSC and NMDA-R EPSC in heterozygous and
	Nova-2 null mice
Figure 4	42. The voltage-dependence of the NMDA-R EPSC is comparable in Nova-2 null
	mutants and controls

۰.

•3

۲۹ د ۱۰۰۰

> י. א

vii

igure 43. Similar pairing-induced LTP of the EPSC in Nova-2 null mice and their	
heterozygous siblings	33
Figure 44. GIRK1 surface staining in dissociated hippocampal culture without any	
treatment	4
Figure 45. NMDA activation significantly increased surface GIRK staining8	35.
Figure 46. 25mM of KCl also increased surface GIRK expression8	6
Figure 47. Quantitation analysis surface GIRK over total protein in NMDA activation	
and KCl treatment	37



۰.

Introduction

Long-term potentiation of excitatory synapses at CA1 hippocampal neurons

Much attention over the past decades has focused on the plasticity of excitatory synaptic transmission (Lisman et al., 2002; Malenka et al., 1989; Malenka et al., 1988; Malinow and Malenka, 2002; Malinow et al., 1989; Nicoll, 2003), as a cellular correlate of learning and memory (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993). In most cases, LTP requires the activation of N-methy-D-Aspartate (NMDA) receptors, however, several mechanisms have been proposed for synaptic potentiation at different types of synapses, such as the involvement of presynaptic I_h channels and PKA in the expression of mossy fiber LTP (Mellor et al., 2002; Malenka and Bear, 2004). The α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors open upon binding to glutamate and conduct monovalent cations like Na^+ and K^+ , which mediate the majority of the fast excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC). Optimal NMDA receptor activation during the induction of LTP requires glutamate release from the presynaptic nerve terminals concurrent with depolarization of the postsynaptic neuron to relieve block of the channel pore by external Mg²⁺ ions. Depolarization of postsynaptic cells is accomplished experimentally by high frequency stimulation for field recording or by direct depolarization of the postsynaptic cell under whole cell patch clamp paired with presynaptic low frequency stimulation. In addition, LTP can also be induced by appropriately pairing weak synaptic inputs with action potentials in the postsynaptic cell which backpropagated into the dendrites in a manner that is regulated by K⁺ channel on the dendrites (Bi and Poo, 2001; Bi and Wang, 2002; Hoffman et al., 1997; Johnston et al., 2000; Paulsen and Sejnowski, 2000).

Dissociation of Mg^{2^+} from its binding site within NMDA receptors/channels allows Ca^{2^+} to enter the dendritic spines. A rise in Ca^{2^+} within dendritic spines for a very short time period (a few seconds) is the critical trigger for LTP (Lynch et al., 1983; Malenka et al., 1988, 1992). The structure of dendritic spines provides compartmentalization of the rise of intracellular Ca^{2^+} hence the input specificity of LTP.

A variety of molecules can be activated by Ca^{2+} that result in an increase in synaptic strength. There has been much debate whether the increase in synaptic strength during LTP is due to postsynaptic modification in AMPA receptor function or altered probability of presynaptic transmitter release or both. Strong evidence has been obtained supporting the notion that the mechanisms for the expression of LTP involve an increase in the number of AMPA receptors in the plasma membrane at synapses by activity-dependent trafficking (Malenka and Nicoll, 1999; Song and Huganir, 2002). Calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) is one of the most important factors to modulate AMPA receptors for inducing LTP (Daw et al., 1993; Malenka et al., 1989; Malenka et al., 1988; Malinow et al., 1989; McBain and Mayer, 1994); LTP induction can be blocked by pharmacologically inhibiting CaMKII or genetically removing it. CaMKII exerts at least two effects on AMPA receptor activity (Fink and Meyer, 2002). Increase of phosphorylation on Ser831 by CaMKII enhances transmission by increasing single channel conductance in both native hippocampal cells and expression systems (Derkach et al., 1999; Barria et al., 1997; Mammen et al., 1997). Additionally, the catalytic domain of CaMKII has been shown to increase AMPA synaptic transmission in experiments using eletrophysiologically tagged AMPA receptors. Moreover, CaMKII- and tetanic

stimulation-induced synaptic delivery of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR1 is abolished by elimination of the PDZ consensus sequence at the GluR1 COOH-terminus, but not Ser831Ala mutation (Hayashi, et al., 2000). CaMKII also binds to the NR2B subunit of NMDA receptors and a number of postsynaptic density (PSD) proteins, such as PSD-95 and SAP97. Interaction between CaMKII and NMDA receptors increases binding affinity between calmodulin (CaM) and CaMKII and maintains the kinase in an active configuration (Bayer et al., 2001). On the other hand, CaMKII interaction with NMDA receptors and PSD proteins may increase anchoring sites for AMPA receptors at the synapses, thereby enhancing synaptic transmission. Not only is CaMKII activation required for LTP induction, CaMKII activation is also sufficient for LTP. Overexpression of the constitutively active form of CaMKII enhances synaptic transmission by inducing delivery of AMPA receptors into synapses and also occludes further LTP induction (Hayashi, et al., 2000).

The Ras-MAPK has emerged as a major postsynaptic signaling mechanism in the synaptic plasticity of EPSC (Sheng and Kim, 2002). NMDA receptor activation stimulates Ras activity, possibly by activating Ras-guanine-nucleotide releasing factor (Ras-GRF) and calcium- and diacylglycerol-related guanine nucleotide exchange factor (CalDAG-GEF) family members, and by recruiting the Grb2-SOS RasGEF complex via the calcium- and PKC-activated tyrosine kinase PYK2(CAKβ). Activation of CaMKII, downstream of NMDA receptor activation, is also important to Ras activity (Zhu et al., 2002). Moreover, the dominant-negative form of Ras blocks the potentiating effect of CaMKII as well as LTP, and active forms of Ras mimic and occlude LTP. Therefore, Ras

likely acts downstream of CaMKII, and Ras activity is necessary and sufficient to relay the CaMKII signaling that produces synaptic potentiation (Zhu et al., 2002). Moreover, NMDA receptor-containing complexes harbor CaMKIIβ subunit, Ras, Raf, MEK, and ERK : the MAP kinase cascade that is activated by Ras (Husi et al., 2000). It has become clear that ERK activation can be stimulated by Ras and some other kinases and is involved in both early- and late-phase hippocampal LTP (English et al., 1997; Impey et al., 1998; McGahon et al., 1999).

Other kinases have also been implicated in playing a role in LTP induction (Lynch, 2004). PKA, cAMP-dependent protein kinase, is required for LTP in neonatal rats that are younger than P9 (Yasuda et al., 2003) and older animals (Esteban et al., 2003). Activitydependent phosphorylation of GluR1 and GluR4 by PKA leads to the incorporation of the receptors into synapses. PKC is important for LTP as well, because PKC inhibitors block LTP (Hu et al., 1987; Malinow et al., 1989). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3 kinase) and tyrosine kinase Src also play role in LTP induction by modulating AMPA and NMDA receptors, respectively (Malenka and Bear, 2004; Man et al., 2003; Salter and Kalia, 2004)

Activity-dependent AMPA receptor trafficking is a prominent mechanism of LTP, involving kinases, but also a number of scaffold proteins, as shown in both organotypic hippocampus slices and dissociated hippocampal neurons (Contractor and Heinemann, 2002; Lüscher, et al., 1999; Shi et al., 2001). Endogenous AMPA receptors are heteroligomeric complexes composed of GluR1/GluR2 and GluR2/GluR3 (Wenthold et al.,

1996). GluR1 and 4 have long cytoplasmic carboxyl termini, GluR2 and 3 have short cytoplasmic carboxyl termini (Köhler et al., 1994). AMPA receptors containing long carboxyl termini are delivered to synapses by activity-dependent mechanisms (Shi et al., 1999; Hayashi et al., 2000). The activity-dependent process driving GluR1 into synapses requires the interaction between GluR1 carboxyl termini and PDZ domain proteins. GluR1 subunits with mutations at their PDZ interaction site or truncated GluR1 without its carboxyl terminus are not delivered to synapses. In contrast to the necessity of synaptic activity or CaMKII activity to the surface delivery of GluR1, GluR2, with a short carboxyl terminus, is constitutively inserted into synapses (Shi et al., 2001). This insertion relies on the interaction between GluR2 carboxyl termini and Nethylmaleimide-sensitive factor (NSF) and group II PDZ domain proteins (Shi et al., 2002; Lüscher et al., 1999). Strikingly, two mechanisms for the synaptic delivery of AMPA receptors contribute to important aspects of synaptic function. GluR2/GluR3 receptors constitutively recycle in the synapse, whereas GluR1/GluR2 receptors undergo regulated delivery to modify synaptic strength. Those scaffold proteins that interact with GluR1 and GluR2 may serve as "slots" to maintain or alter the number of receptors at the synapses (Shi et al., 2001).

Late phase LTP involves mechanisms responsible for the increase of synaptic strength one hour after induction or even days later. It is believed that late phase LTP requires new protein synthesis and gene transcription, in contrast to the early, short-term, phase of LTP (Kelleher et al., 2004; Pittenger and Kandel, 2003; Tang and Schuman, 2002). Interestingly, protein synthesis is needed at the time of induction, although the protein synthesis-dependent component of LTP appears 1-2 hours later (Otani et al., 1989). In addition, dendrites severed from their cell bodies display only short term potentiaion, suggesting that mRNA or proteins transported from the soma are needed to sustain LTP (Frey et al., 1989). The mechanisms of late phase LTP will be discussed in detail below.

Long-term plasticity at GABAergic synapses

Because most CNS regions contain both principal neurons that release glutamate and interneurons that release GABA (Markram et al., 2004; McBain et al., 1999), the complex circuitry involving synapses between these glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons presents a considerable challenge in discerning the precise sites of synaptic plasticity induced by nerve stimulation (McBain et al., 1999; Perez et al., 1999). To overcome this problem, researchers have devised ways specifically to activate the NMDA receptors of a single CA1 neuron under whole-cell patch-clamp, by pairing stimulation of its presynaptic glutamatergic nerve fibers with depolarization of the CA1 neuron (Hayashi et al., 2000; Kauer et al., 1988; Nicoll et al., 2003). The stimulation electrode placed in the dendritic field of CA1 neurons, however, will activate not only glutamatergic nerve fibers but also inhibitory interneurons so as to induce inhibitory synaptic potentials in the CA1 neuron, either di-synaptically due to innervation of these interneurons by the stimulated glutamatergic nerve fibers or monosynaptically due to placement of the stimulation electrode near the soma or processes of these inhibitory neurons. Indeed, stimulation paradigms that induce LTP of the EPSC may cause longterm depression (LTD) of fast inhibitory postsynaptic current (fIPSC) in the CA1 neuron (Caillard et al., 1999, 2000; Chevalevre and Castillo, 2003; Gaiarsa et al., 2002; Lu et al.,

فاست المراجع والمعاقل

. .

2000) as well as LTD of the EPSC in the GABAergic interneurons (Laezza et al., 1999; McMahon and Kauer, 1997). Not surprisingly, several different mechanisms have been reported to contribute to the induction and maintenance of inhibitory synapses or excitatory synapses on interneurons. For instance, the high frequency stimulation protocol which is commonly used to induce LTP in excitatory synapses in the CA1 area, also triggers a group I mGluR-dependent heterosynaptic LTD at inhibitory synapses, mediated by retrograde endocannabinoid signaling, but independent of postysynaptic NMDA receptor activation (Chevaleyre and Castillo, 2003). The tetanic field stimulation protocol could also induce LTD of the fIPSP in CA1 pyramidal neurons a process that requires NMDA receptor activation and calcineurin activity (Lu et al., 2000). These different outcomes in synaptic plasticity could be attributed to different conditioning protocols or the use of AMPA receptor antagonist or even different age of animals used in those studies. No synaptic specificity seems to be a common characteristic in most studies of plasticity at both GABAergic synpases onto pyramidal neurons and excitatory synapses onto interneurons (Chevaleyre and Castillo, 2003; McMahon and Kauer, 1997). It is possible that the special morphological feature of the axons of hippocampal interneurons makes it difficult to conduct two independent stimulation pathways to examine synaptic specificity. These and other studies (Perez et al., 1999) reinforce the notion that the synaptic plasticity monitored in a given neuron could arise from altered synaptic efficacy of the excitatory and/or inhibitory synaptic potentials in glutamatergic neurons as well as GABAergic interneurons in the central neuronal circuitry.

The only study that examines synaptic plasticity of slow inhibition was done by Lacaille and colleagues (Perez et al., 1999). Slight potentiation of both fast inhibitory response mediated by GABA_A receptors and slow inhibition response mediated by GABA_B receptors and G protein-activated inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels (GIRK) was observed at CA1 pyramidal neurons by theta-burst stimulation protocol at Shaffer collaterals. The plasticity requires NMDAR activation.

Two types of transmitter receptors mediate synaptic transmission

Neurotransmitters mediate signaling between neurons by activating two different types of receptors: ionotropic transmitter receptors, ligand-gated ion channels that mediate fast synaptic potentials, and metabotropic transmitter receptors, G protein-coupled receptors that generate slow synaptic potentials (Hille, 1992). Localization of these two receptors is quite different too. Ionotropic transmitter receptors usually localize right opposite to the presynaptic boutons in the postsynaptic density (PSD) in the case of excitatory synapses, however, metabotropic transmitter receptors are relativly far from neurotransmitter release sites, outside of synaptic clefts (Huang, 1998; Isaacson, 2000). It is believed that diffusion of neurotransmitters is required for activating postsynaptic metabotropic transmitter receptors (Scanziani, 2000). Both types of receptors for glutamate, the major excitatory transmitter in the mammalian central nervous system (CNS), are present in the spines, small protrusions from dendrites that harbor the great majority of the excitatory synapses (Harris et al., 1999; Sheng and Kim, 2002). In contrast, dendritic shafts provide the setting for inhibitory synapses involving GABA, the major inhibitory transmitter in the mammalian brain, with the notable exception of a few examples of inhibitory

synapses on the spines (Freund and Buzsaki, 1996; Somogyi et al., 1998; Tamas et al., 2003).

GIRK channels

Inward rectifier potassium (Kir) channels constitute a large family of proteins possessing essential functions in the brain and other tissues. Within this family, G protein-activated inward rectifier potassium (GIRK) channels (also known as Kir3 channels) mediate the effects of some neurotransmitter effect in the central nervous system (CNS) and heart, controlling heart rate, neuronal signaling and membrane excitability (Dascal, 1997; Stanfield et al., 2002; Yamada et al., 1998). Furthermore, GIRK channels are involved in opioid- and ethanol- induced analgesia, which is absent in GIRK2 null and weaver mice (Ikeda et al., 2000, 2002, 2003; Kobayashi et al., 1999; Mitrovic et al., 2003). Activation of GIRK channels via G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) stimulation is mediated by heterotrimeric G proteins (G $_{i/0}$) that are sensitive to pertussis toxin (PTX). Inhibitory transmitters (such as GABA, dopamine) activate the receptors, resulting in the dissociation of the G protein into the α - (G α) and the $\beta\gamma$ - ($\beta\gamma$) subunits; direct binding of Gby and GIRK channels, in turn, increases activity of GIRK channels. In this way, these channels produce a hyperpolarization in response to transmitters. In cardiac myocytes, activation of the heart muscarinic m2 receptor slows the heart rate by activating GIRK1/4 hetero-tetrameric channels. In the brain, a variety of receptors, such as A₁ adenosine, D2 dopamine, μ -, δ -, κ -opioid, 5HT 1A serotonin, somatostatin, m-GluR, GABA_B, substance P and neurotensin receptors have been shown to activate GIRK channels (Dascal 1997; Lüscher et al., 1997; Yamada et al., 1998).

and server a

Four members of GIRK subfamily, GIRK 1-4, have been cloned in mammals, including several splice variants (Inanobe et al., 1999; Wickman et al., 2002; Wei et al., 1998; Yamada et al., 1998); these protein can form homotetramers or heterotetramers in vivo, due to their diverse trafficking patterns and different distribution in vivo (Ma, 2002). GIRK1 alone does not produce functional channels when expressed in most cell lines tested, except for Xenopus oocytes. Hedin et al. presented conclusive evidence that functional GIRK channels in *Xenopus* oocytes injected with GIRK1 RNA are formed by the combination of the expressed GIRK1 and an endogenous subunit, GIRK5 (Hedin et al., 1996). GIRK2-4 are necessary to coassemble with GIRK1 to produce functional channels with nearly identical single-channel properties in the heterologous system (Jelacic et al., 1999). However, GIRK2 and GIRK4 alone are directed to the cell surface efficiently, due to the presence of forward trafficking motifs – ER export motif and Golgi surface-promoting motif (Ma et al., 2002). Significantly, when GIRK1 is coexpressed with GIRK2 or GIRK 4, the trafficking of GIRK1/GIRK2 or GIRK1/GIRK4 heterotetramers is dictated by the forward trafficking motifs of GIRK2 or GIKR4. Four alternative splicing forms of GIRK2 that have different C termini (GIRK2C and GIRK2B compared to GIRK2A), or different N termini (GIRK2D vs. GIRK2A) show different trafficking patterns corresponding to their sequences. For instance, GIRK2C has extra 11 amino acids containing a PDZ domain binding motif at the extreme C terminus compared to GIRK2A, and hence exhibits similar trafficking behavior though more surface channels were formed by GIRK2C probably due to the presence of a PDZ domain

binding motif (Ma et al., 2002). However, interaction between GIRK2C and PSD95 is still controversial (Inanobe et al., 1999; Nehring et al., 2000; Ma et al., 2002).

Localization of GIRK isoforms has been extensively studied (DePaoli et al., 1994; Karschin et al., 1996; Kobayashi et al., 1995; Lesage et al., 1994; Liao et al., 1996; Morishige et al., 1996; Murer et al., 1997; Ponce et al., 1996; Spauschus et al., 1996). In general, GIRK1-3 mRNA are abundantly expressed throughout the brain, although GIRK4 mRNA is expressed in the brain to a much lesser extent than other GIRK transcripts. In the rat hippocampus, all GIRK mRNAs and proteins are strongly expressed by dentate gyrus granule cells and CA1-CA3 pyramidal neurons. (Karschin et al., 1996; Liao et al., 1996). GIRK2A and GIKR2C but not GIRK2B or GIRK2D are expressed in hippocampus assayed by single cell RT-PCR (Leaney, 2003). In electron microscopic analysis, stratum lacunosum-moleculare has the most intense labeling, indicating the highest GIRK1 expression, followed by stratum radiatum and stratum pyramidale in CA1 region of the hippocampus (Drake et al., 1997). GIRK1 is present exclusively in neurons and predominantly located in spiny dendrites of pyramidal neurons. Surprisingly, GIRK1 labeled spines are observed much more frequently than GRIK1 labeled shafts in both stratum lacunosum-moleculare and stratum radiatum. In dendritic spines and thin shafts, GIRK1 labeling is present with striking frequency near the PSD of asymmetric type of synapses usually associated with excitatory neurotransmission. These results demonstrate the localization of GIRK1 mainly on the spine, around the PSD of excitatory synapses in stratum lacunosum-molecurlare. Functional demonstration of the postsynaptic localization of GIRK has been shown by Nicoll and colleagues in their study of the

GIRK2 null mice (Lüscher et al., 1997). Upon presynaptic stimulation, the slow inhibition (sIPSC) following the GABA_A mediated response (fIPSC) is absent in mutant mice in the presence of AMPA and NMDA receptor antagonists. In contrast, presynaptic inhibition of excitatory and inhibitory transmitter release by a number of presynaptic G protein coupled receptors is unaltered in these mutant mice.

A number of signaling molecules modulate GIRK function, including cytoplasmic ATP, Mg²⁺, Na⁺, and unsaturated fatty acid (Dascal 1997; Sui, et al., 1996; Petite-Jacques et al., 1999; Kim et al., 2000), as well as phosphotidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate (PIP2) (Kim and Bang, 1999; Han et al., 2003; Huang et al., 1998). PIP2 direct binds to GIRK channels, and the interaction between GIRK and PIP2 is stabilized by the By subunits of the G protein (G $\beta\gamma$) (Huang et al., 1998). In addition, several kinases are important to GIRK channel function, such as PKA, PKC and protein phosphatase 2 (Median et al., 2000; Müllner et al., 2000, 2003; Sharon et al., 1997). The atrial GIRK channels (GIRK 1/GIRK4) are assembled in a signaling complex with G_βy, G protein-coupled receptor kinase (GRK), PKA, two protein phosphatase, PP1 and PP2A, receptor for activated C kinase 1 (RACK1) and actin (Nikolov and Ivanova-Nikolova, 2004). This complex can even further recruit PKC to the channel following α -adrenergic receptor stimulation. Thus, this complex would enable the GIRK channels to rapidly integrate β adrenergic and m2 acetycholine receptor signaling in the membrane. The formation of a stable macromolecular complex maybe a common feature for G protein-mediated signal transduction (Lavine et al., 2002).

GABA_B receptor

GABA, the predominant inhibitory neurotransmitter in the mammalian nervous system, signals through ionotropic GABA_A and metatropic GABA_B receptors. Binding of GABA to $GABA_B$ receptors results in GDP/GTP exchange in the associated G-protein and dissociation of $G\alpha$ and $G\beta\gamma$, which affect to a wide variety of intracellular targets, including adenylyl cyclase, GIRK channels and voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels (Billinton et al., 2001; Mott and Lewis, 1994). In the hippocampus, eletrophyiological and pharmacological studies have provided characterization of the presynaptic and postsynaptic inhibitory actions of GABA_B receptors. Presynaptic GABA_B receptors decrease excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter release by depressing Ca²⁺ influx through voltage dependent Ca²⁺ channels, via PTX-insensitve G proteins (Dutar and Nicoll, 1988; Harrison, 1990; Wu and Saggau, 1995). The presynaptic GABA_B receptors have been shown to regulate the induction of LTP in the hippocampus (Davies et al., 1991). Activation of postsynaptic GABA_B receptors elicits the slow synaptic inhibition mediated by GIRK channels, through PTX-sensitive G proteins (Lüscher et al., 1997; Kaupmann et al., 1998b).

Similar to metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR), GABA_B receptors are dimmers formed by GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} (Jones et al., 1998; Kaupmann et al., 1998a; White et al., 1998; Kuner et al., 1999). In the GABA_B heterodimers, the GABA_{B1} subunit binds GABA and all competitive GABA_B ligands, whereas the GABA_{B2} is important for surface trafficking and G protein coupling (Calver et al., 2001; Margeta-Mitrovic et al., 2000; Pagano et al., 2001; Robins et al., 2001). Mice lacking GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} exhibit similar phenotypes, such as spontaneous seizures, hyperalgesia, hyperlocomotor activity, and memory impairment (Gassmann et al., 2004; Schuler et al., 2001). The preand postsynaptic GABA_B responses are absent in GABA_{B1} null mice, as expected; however, GABA_{B2} null mice showed atypical eletrophysiological GABA_B responses and relocation of GABA_{B1} proteins to soma and proximal dendrites from distal neuronal sites. Both GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} exist in different splice forms (Billinton et al., 2001). Furthermore, mRNA localization studies suggest that different splicing forms (GABA_{B1a} and GABA_{B1b}) of GABA_{B1} might involve different composition of pre- and postsynaptic GABA_B receptors (Billinton et al., 1999), although both of them could couple to K⁺ or Ca²⁺ channels in transfected cells (Fillippov et al., 2000; Schwarz et al., 2000).

GABA_{B1} exhibits a broader cellular expression pattern than GABA_{B2} (Clark et al., 2000; Kim et al., 2003; Margeta-mitrovic et al., 1999). Both subunits are highly expressed in stratum lacunosum-moleculare, and weakest in stratum radiatum in hippocampal CA1 region (Kulik et al., 2003). Subcellular localization shown by electron microscopy demonstrates that both subunits are more abundant on postsynaptic elements, in the dendritic layer of the hippocampus (Kulik et al., 2003). Presynaptically, they are mainly detected in the extrasynaptic membrane and occasionally over the membrane specializations of putative glutamatergic and, to a lesser extent, GABAergic axon terminals. Postsynaptically, GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} are most abundant at the edge of asymmetrical synapses of pyramidal cell spines. GABA_B receptors form a gradient with the strongest expression at the glutamatergic synapses, though not at PSD. Around inhibitory synaspes, however, GABA_B receptors are evenly distributed on dendritic shafts (Kulik et al., 2003).

Synaptic plasticity of slow inhibition

Whereas the ionotropic GABA_A receptor resides primarily on the soma, dendritic shafts and axon initial segments (Farrant and Nusser, 2005; Klausberger et al., 2002; Macdonald and Olsen, 1994; Nyiri et al., 2001), recent studies have revealed that, remarkably, the metabotropic GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels are located not only on dendritic shafts but also on the spines (Drake et al., 1997; Kulik et al., 2003). These findings raise the intriguing question of whether the slow synaptic inhibition mediated by GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels (Luscher et al., 1997; Marshall et al., 1999) is affected by the machinery in the spine for inducing synaptic plasticity of the EPSC mediated by ionotropic glutamate receptors (Harris, 1999; Malinow, 2003; Nicoll, 2003; Sheng and Kim, 2002).

يتعدنا أجرار ومجهو

To address the open question whether postsynaptic NMDA receptor activation causes synaptic plasticity of the sIPSC, we have used the pairing protocol to activate NMDA receptors in the CA1 neuron under whole-cell patch-clamp recording. Remarkably, we found that coincidence detection of synaptic release of glutamate and postsynaptic depolarization of the CA1 neuron caused LTP of the sIPSC. Not only is this synaptic plasticity of slow inhibition dependent on NMDA receptor activation, it also requires postsynaptic Ca²⁺ increase and CaMKII activity. Indeed, expression of the constitutively

active form of CaMKII potentiated the sIPSC and occluded further potentiation of the sIPSC via the pairing protocol. It thus appears that the same signaling pathway mobilized by NMDA receptor activation for eliciting LTP of the EPSC also causes LTP of the sIPSC. To explore the functional requirement for this novel form of synaptic plasticity further, we examined the role of the RNA-binding protein Nova-2, an autoimmune target likely to be important for cognitive functions (Albert and Darnell, 2004; Yang et al., 1998), which exhibits intriguing interactions and regulation of molecules crucial for synaptic transmission (Ule et al., 2003; Ule et al., 2005).

RNA binding protein Nova-2

Paraneoplastic opsoclonus myoclonus ataxia (POMA) patients, often with latent breast cancer, fallopian cancer or small cell lung cancer, display not only ataxic movements but also cognitive loss, probably due to the autoimmune responses they developed against neuronal specific antigens expressed by their cancer cells (Buckanovich et al., 1993; Hormigo et al., 1994; Luque et al., 1991; Pranzatelli, 1992). The proteins recognized by their autoimmune antibodies, Nova-1 and Nova-2, are RNA-binding proteins that control alternative splicing of a number of gene products specifically expressed in the CNS and the first mammalian tissue-specific splicing factor identified (Jensen et al., 2000; Ule et al., 2005). Alternative splicing has been demonstrated to determine the subcellular location, molecular interactions, or function of proteins from single RNA precursors to regulate neuronal activity in hippocampus and sex determination in Drosophila (Tacke and Manley, 1999; Ehlers et al., 1995, 1998; Ferns et al., 1992). Interestingly, many of the targets of Nova-1 and Nova-2 contribute to inhibitory synaptic transmission and/or

synaptic plasticity. For instance, Nova binds an intronic UCAU-rich GlyR α 2 pre-mRNA upstream of the mutually exclusive exons 3A and 3B, leading to preferential utilization of exon 3A, although the physiological significance of this alternative splicing of glycine receptors remains to be established. Whereas Nova-1 is mainly restricted to the diencephalon, brainstem and motor neurons of the ventral spinal cord, Nova-2 is expressed mostly in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus and dorsal spinal cord (Jensen et al., 2000; Ule et al., 2003; Yang et al., 1998). Nova-1 null mice exhibit apoptotic death of motor neurons in brainstem and spinal cord, indicating that Nova-1 is required for neuronal survival (Jensen et al., 2000; Dredge et al., 2001). This expression pattern of the Nova-2 protein is likely to underlie the development of cognitive deficits in some POMA patients. UV cross-linking and immunoprecipitation (CLIP) was developed and used by Darnell and colleagues to identify transcript targets of Nova-2 (Ule et al., 2003). It is observed that most of CLIP tags are located in the first three introns of target RNA and some are located within 3' UTR. The interaction between Nova-2 and target RNA is sequence-specific and of high affinity. One-third of Nova-2 target RNAs are involved in inhibitory synaptic transmission including GIRK2 and GABA_BR2, which both have some alternative splicing forms. Therefore, it would be interesting to know if Nova-2 null animals have different splicing forms of GIRK2 and GABA_BR2 compared to wild type animals in the hippocampus, and how this altered expression pattern might further affect synaptic transmission or plasticity of sIPSC. On the other hand, fractionation of mouse brain into nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions revealed that two-thirds of total Nova protein is present outside of the nucleus, although when normalized to protein mass, the highest concentration of Nova protein is in the nucleus (unpublished data, Darnell). Furthermore,

त्रम्पाः न पुरस्यात् व मूर्व

فسناره بالاتها

مر نبا

both immunofluorescence and electron microscopy demonstrate that Nova protein is present at inhibitory synapses, vicinity of gephyrin labeling region in spinal cord neurons. The distribution of endogenous Nova-2 is further confirmed by immunoflurorescence staining, which suggest Nova-2 not only localizes in the soma, but also within dentrites in dissociated mature hippocampal neurons (unpublished data, Darnell). The cytoplasmic location of Nova protein suggests that it may also regulate mRNA within the dendrite, either by affecting their localization, translation, or half-life. Most likely, the interaction between mature RNA and Nova-2 protein within dendrites is through low-affinity binding site in the exons of mRNA derived from precursors containg high affinity binding sites in the intron (personal communication, Darnell). These findings may reflect analogus phenomena to those reported for localized mRNA (*oskar*) in *Drosophila*, where splicing appears to be a pre-requisite for mRNA localization (Hachet and Ephrussi, 2004).

فاست ورويه

The discovery of synapse-associated polyribosome complexes (SPRCs), clusters of polyribosomes and associated membranous cisterns selectively located beneath postsynaptic sites on the dendrites of CNS, has raised the possibility of protein synthesis outside of the neuronal soma (Kiebler and DesGroseillers, 2000; Kloc et al., 2002; Martin et al., 2000; Steward and Levy, 1982; Steward and Schuman, 2001; Steward and Schuman, 2003; Tang and Schuman, 2000). This idea is appealing because it provides the neuron with a means of rapidly changing protein composition in a spatially restricted manner. *In situ* hybridization methods indicate that several mRNAs, including αCaMKII, MAP2, glutamate receptors, Fragile X mental retardation protein, and Arc, can be localized within dendrites (Sheetz et al., 2000; Steward and Schuman, 2003; Weiler et al.,

1997; Zalfa et al., 2003). Experiments using imaging studies and synaptosome preparations provide evidence that localized mRNA could be locally translated into active proteins, thus changing the composition of synaptic components in response to specific physiological conditions such as alteration in synaptic activity due to the action of neurotrophic factor brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), mGluR, or depolarization (Aakalu et al., 2001; Weiler et al., 1997; Greenough et al., 2001). Taking advantage of new methodology to discriminate preexisting protein and newly synthesis protein, Malenka and colleagues have demonstrated that AMPA receptors are locally synthesized in dendrites and delivered to synapses, and this process can be regulated by activity, thereby contributing to activity-dependent changes in synaptic strength (Ju et al., 2004). In support of these findings, there is redistribution of polyribosome to dendritic spines and large synapses after LTP induction by tetanic stimulation, as shown by serial electron microscopy (Ostroff et al., 2002). Certain neuronal mRNAs contain dendritic targeting signals in their 3'-UTR (Kislauskis et al., 1994; Mayford et al., 1996; Blichenberg et al., 1999; Miller et al., 2002). Disruption of 3'-UTR of α CaMKII, which contains two cytoplasmic polyadenylation elements, largely reduces the protein level in dendritic layers of the hippocampus, especially in the PSD fraction (Miller, et al., 2002; Wells, et al., 2001). mRNA level is also significantly reduced in CA1 stratum radiatum compared to CA1 stratum pyramidale and whole hippocampus. Subtle but significant deficits in late-phase LTP and memory in the mutant animals have been observed by physiological and behavioral studies, suggest that local synthesis of CaMKII protein is important for these processes.

Dependence of sIPSC LTP on Nova-2 function

By comparing the sIPSC before and after the pairing protocol in Nova-2 null mice and their heterozygous siblings, we found that, while the Nova-2 null mice exhibited basal sIPSC comparable to that in control mice, they failed to show LTP of the sIPSC, indicating that one of the physiological functions of Nova-2 in the mammalian brain is to enable activity-dependent modulation of the strength of slow synaptic inhibition. Because the Nova-2 null mice still exhibited LTP of the EPSC, Nova-2 appears to be specifically involved in the NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic plasticity of slow inhibition. Given that GABA_{B1}mRNA is abundant in synaptosomes, comparable with MAP2, and to a lesser extent, GABA_{B2}, GIKR1 and GIRK2 as well, it would be very interesting to determine whether the loss of synaptic plasticity of slow inhibition in Nova-2 null mice is due to altered alternative splicing of GIRK or GABA_BR or any other molecules in the signal transduction pathway, or altered distribution of mRNA of GIRK or GABA_BR at the synapses.

-

Materials and Methods

Hippocampal cultures and immunocytochemistry

Dissociated hippocampal cultures from 18-day-old embryonic rats were prepared as described (Brewer et al., 1993). For endogenous GIRK2 immunostaining, neuronal cultures were transfected with EGFP constructs by Sinbis virus at DIV 3-4 weeks and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and 4% sucrose in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at 4°C for 20 minutes, permeabilized with 1% Triton in PBS and exposed to GIRK2 antibodies (Alamone, Jerusalem) for immunofluorescence. For surface GIRK1 staining, neuronal cultures were cotransfected GIRK1-ha-EGFP (HA epitope-YPYDVPDYA, was fused to the extracellular loop of GIRK1, between amino acid 115 and 116) and GIRK2 constructs by gene gun (BioRad) at DIV3-4 weeks. After 48 hours, cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and 4% sucrose. After wash, cells were incubated with anti-HA antibody (HA.11, Babco) for 1 hour, and then biotin-conjugated secondary antibody, followed by cy5- conjugated strepavidin. Repeated wash with PBS was necessary between incubations. The visual field was blindly moved to a random site on a coverslip, the first transfected pyramidal neuron was sampled by a digital camera and analyzed with Image J. Five areas of similar size from 5 dendrites of the same neuron were randomly picked to calculated the amount of total protein (EGFP, green) and surface protein (Cy5, red) by Image J. For all experiments, control and treated converslips were obtained from the same culture preparation and immunocytochemistry was processed in parallel. The ratio of surface protein over total protein was determined after subtracting background fluorescent intensity (Carroll et al, 1999).

a s ins

Slice culture and eletrophysiology

Rat hippocampal organotypic slice cultures were prepared according to published protocols (Hayashi et al., 2000). Briefly, transverse hippocampal slices (400µm-thick) were obtained from postnatal 6- to 8- day-old Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River) with tissue copper and explanted onto a membrane (Millicell-CM, 0.4µm pore size) placed in 0.75ml of culture medium (MEM) containing 3 mM glutamine, 30 mM Hepes, 5 mM NaHCO₃, 30 mM D-glucose, 0.5 mM L-ascorbate, 2 mM CaCl₂, 2.5 mM MgSO₄, 1 µg insulin, and 20 % horse serum (Musleh et al., 1997). The slices were cultured for 2-3 weeks at 35°C. In a recording chamber, superfused with a solution containing 119 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 4 mM CaCl₂, 4 mM MgCl₂, 26.2 mM NaHCO₃, 1 mM NaH₂PO₄, 11 mM glucose and equilibrated with 5% CO₂ and 95% O₂, CA1 pyramidal neurons were analyzed via whole-cell recordings at room temperature with patch electrodes (3-5 M Ω) filled with pipette solution containing 140 mM K-Gluconate, 5 mM HEPES, 2 mM MgCl₂, 1.1 mM EGTA, 2 mM MgATP and 3 mM Na₃GTP. Recordings were amplified with Axonpatch 1D, filtered at 1 kHz and sampled using programs written in Igor Pro (Wavematrics, OR). To evoke synaptic responses, a cluster electrode (FHC, ME) was placed \sim 300-500 µm from the layer of pyramidal neurons in the CA1 region and stimuli of ~0.1 msec duration were delivered. Data were analyzed using macros written in Igor Proand Microsoft Excel. For recordings from cell pairs, two cells with cell bodies within $\sim 20 \,\mu m$ were selected, one showing EGFP fluorescence and the other one not fluorescent. Drugs used were NBOX (Tocris), picrotoxin (Tocris), SCH23390 (Tocris), SCH50911

10.20

(Tocris), AM251 (Tocris), tertiapin (Alamone), APV (Tocris), KN-93 (Calbiochem), DRB (Calbiochem), Chelerythrine (Tocris) and adenosine 3', 5'-cyclic Monophosphorothioate (Sigma). Data are expressed as means ± SEM and statistical differences of the means were determined using student's t-test.

Sinbis virus

Sinbis viruses were constructed for infection of neurons as reported previously (Hayashi et al., 2000), and recordings were made 24 to 36 hours after infection. The CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP construct was made by inserting the CaMKII(1-290) fragment amplified via polymerase chain reaction into the pEGFP-N1 vector (Clontech) as described (Hayashi et al., 2000). CaMKII (1-290)-EGFP fragment was cut from pEGFP-N1 constructs and cloned into pSinReb5 vector. After sequencing for verification, linearlized clones were transcribed into RNA with in vitro SP6 transcription kit (Ambion). Target RNA and virus structural RNA were cotransfected into BHK cells by eletroporation. After transfection, cells and medium were collected 48-72 hours later. High titer virus was obtained by high speed centrifuge (20,000 rpm) for 2 hours. Virus was injected into S. Pyramidale in CA1 region by picospritzer.

.

4

Acute slices

Brains from 25-30 days old Sprague-Dawley rats (Charles River, CA) were removed and immersed into cold dissection buffer containing 87 mM NaCl, 25 mM NaHCO₃, 75 mM Sucrose, 10 mM Glucose, 2.5 mM KCl, 1 mM NaH₂PO₄, 0.5 mM CaCl₂, 7 mM MgCl₂ and equilibrated with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂. Hippocampal slices of ~400 µm thickness

were prepared with vibratome (Leica), transferred to a holding chamber with the ACSF solution containing 119 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 2.5 mM CaCl₂, 1.3 mM MgCl₂, 26.2 mM NaHCO₃, 1 mM NaH₂PO₄, 11 mM glucose and bubbled with 95%O₂/5% CO₂ at 37°C for ~1 hour and then incubated at room temperature for at least 30 minutes before recording. Stimulation electrode was placed at stratum lacunosum-moleculare during recording.

Nova-2 mice

Nova-2 null mice were generated in the CD-1 stain (Ule et al., 2003). Two pairs of primers used for genotyping are designed to target the wildtype locus and mutant locus. The primers targeted to the wildtype locus are N2GT-F1 and N2GT-R2, and the sequences are: GGATCCTCTAGAGTCACACC and GGGTGACATGGAAGAAAGGG respectively. A band size of 450 bp is expected. The primers targeted to the mutant locus are Cre-4 and S6-b, and the sequences are: TTTCCGTCTCTGGTGTAGC and GTGCACACACACATGTCC respectively. A band size of 550 bp is expected. PCR protocol is 94°C for 2'30", 45 cycles of 94°C for 30", 60°C for 45", and 72°C for 45". The final extension is 72°C for 7' followed with 4°C.

4. 5 2m

Hippocampal organotypic cultured slices were prepared from heterozygous and homozygous sibling mice with the same procedure as for rat slice culture. For recording miniature fIPSC and miniature EPSC, the patch pipette was filled with an internal solution containing 115 mM cesium methanesulfonate, 20 mM CsCl, 10 mM HEPES, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 4 mM Na₂ATP, 0.4 mM Na₃ATP, 10 mM sodium phosphocreatine, 0.6 mM EGTA, pH 7.25. The neuron was held at -70 mV for recording miniature fIPSC and at -60 mV for recording miniature EPSC. The external solution containing blockers for glutamate receptors (for recording mIPSC) or GABA_A blocker (for recording mEPSC) and sodium channels: NBQX (5 μ M), APV (100 μ M), PTX (100 μ M) and TTX (2 μ M). All recordings were at room temperature. The peak amplitudes of AMPA-R EPSC and NMDA-R EPSC were measured at 10-15 msec (at -60 mV) and 200 msec (at +40 mV), respectively, from the onset of the synaptic currents.



Results

GIRK2 also resides in the dendritic spines of hippocampal neurons

Given that GABA_B receptors and GIRK1 are located at spines, which house 90% of excitatory synapses, the distribution of GIRK2 was first characterized. GIRK2 antibody was applied to mature rat dissociated hippocampal culture transfected with the green fluorescent protein EGFP. The dendritic spines that were predominantly marked by the EGFP also exhibited strong GIRK2 immnunofluorescence (Fig 1). This result provided further evidence that components for slow inhibition reside in the spines. The proximity of slow inhibition and excitatory synapses (probably on the same spines) raises the possibility that the same machinery - NMDA activation and downstream CaMKII activity, which induce excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC) LTP - may affect slow inhibition mediated by GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels (Fig 2).

The sIPSC mediated by GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels in CA1 neurons

To study sIPSC, whole cell patch clamp recording was carried out in CA1 neurons in cultured rat hippcampal slices. The stimulation electrode was placed 300-500 μ m away from stratum pyramidale – likely within stratum lacunosum-moleculare, which harbor that interneurons innervated dendritic shafts as well as spines of CA1 pyramidal neurons (Vida et al., 1998). To isolate the sIPSC component, which is much smaller and slower than fast synaptic responses, I recorded sIPSC at -60 mV in the presence of NBQX and picrotoxin to block AMPA and GABA_A currents. A biphasic current was obtained with presynaptic stimulation. The later outward current with a peak latency of 320 ± 81 msec

was blocked by GIRK channel blocker SCH23390 (10 µM, n=6; Fig 3, blue)

(Kuzhikandathil and Oxford, 2002). To elicit a detectable sIPSC, I used a much stronger stimulation strength than what is usually used in the study of fast synaptic responses, to activate more presynaptic glutamatergic and GABAergic nerve fibers. Therefore, a quite large inward NMDA-R EPSC with a peak latency of 31 ± 9 msec, was detected even with the membrane potential held at -60 mV and with 4 mM extracellular Mg²⁺. As expected, it could be blocked by APV, an NMDA receptor antagonist (100 µM, Fig 3, red). The sIPSC was further verified by its sensitivity to a structurally unrelated GIRK channel blocker, tertiapin (100nM, n=4, Fig 4) (Bichet et al., 2004), and the GABA_B receptor antagonist SCH50911 (25µM, n=7, Fig 5) (Bolser et al., 1995). There was little correlation between the size of the NMDA-R EPSC and the amplitude of the sIPSC (linear correlation coefficient $R^2=0.5$, n= 13, p>0.1, Fig 6). The large amplitude of NMDAR-mediated currents (Fig 3) suggested that interneurons might fire in response to the strong stimulation paradigm we employed. Stimulation would thus result in both a monosynaptic sIPSC, triggered by direct stimulation of interneurons, and a disynaptic sIPSC, triggered by the synaptic stimulation of interneurons. Evidence for such disynaptic sIPSCs came from the demonstration that sIPSCs were partially blocked by adding the NMDA antagonists APV and CPP (Fig 7).

The pairing protocol causes potentiation of the sIPSC

The amplitude of sIPSC and NMDA-R EPSC remained relatively stable throughout the duration of the experiment (~ 30 minutes, Fig 8), when sampled at 0.33 Hz with the CA1
neuron held at -60 mV. To induce plasticity of sIPSC, I used the pairing protocol, which has been extensively used for inducing NMDA receptor-dependent LTP in whole cell configuration in many studies to activate postsynaptic NMDA receptors as the coincidence detector (Malenka and Bear, 2004). To avoid washout of synaptic plasticity, a short period of baseline ($\sim 3 \text{ mins}$) was obtained by holding CA1 neuron at -60 mV and delivering stimuli at 0.33 Hz stimulation, followed by 3 Hz stimulation paired with postsynaptic depolarization for 2 minutes. After the pairing protocol, 0.33 Hz stimulation was resumed to monitor the synaptic current at -60 mV. Strikingly, sIPSC was gradually increased 5-10 minutes after pairing. This potentiation was robust and long lasting; the sIPSC amplitude increased by ~ 4 fold (415 ± 40% at 20-25 min after pairing, n=12, p<0.001), and the potentiation persisted for ~20 min throughout the duration of experiment (Fig 9). This was accompanied by stable input resistance and series resistance, both monitored through the experiments (Fig 9). Change of NMDA-R EPSC amplitude or time course by pairing protocol could affect the sIPSC peak amplitude measured from the biphasic response. However, no significant change of amplitude $(136 \pm 50\% \text{ at } 20-25)$ mins after pairing, n=12, p=0.2) or decay time (measured in the presence of SCH50911, NBQX and picrotoxin to isolate NMDA-R EPSC, 97 ± 17 msec before pairing, n=7; $90 \pm$ 10 msec after pairing, n=10, p=0.7) of NMDA-R EPSC was found (Fig 10). By measuring the area of sIPSC response instead of the sIPSC peak amplitude, I still observed a persistent and robust pairing-induced potentiaion (normalized area: 2.9 ± 0.5 at 20-25 mins after pairing, n=12, p<0.05, Fig 11). There was no correlation between the extent of the sIPSC potentiation and the baseline amplitude of the sIPSC (linear

المستار جاري

F. ... a

correlation index $R^2=0.04$, n=19, p>0.5, Fig 12) or the NMDA-R EPSC (linear correlation index $R^2=0.1$, n=19, p>0.5, Fig 13).

To characterize this novel form of potentiation of sIPSC, it is important to ascertain whether this plasticity can be observed in hippocampal acute slices. Interneurons in the distal apical dendritic field of CA1 neurons have a high target preference for not only dendritic shafts but also spines (Vida et al., 1998), and the spines in stratum lacunosummoleculare are particularly rich in the immunoreactivity of GIRK1 and both subunits of GABA_B receptors (Drake et al., 1997; Kulik et al., 2003). Therefore we delivered nerve stimuli to the perforant path at stratum lacunosum-moleculare. I started the acute slices experiments with 15-20 day-old rats whose developmental age is similar to those for the cultured slices (7 days old animals plus in vitro culture 2-3 weeks) (De Simoni et al., 2003). However, basal sIPSC showed gradual depression from CA1 pyramidal neurons in acute hippocampal slices $(25.1 \pm 9.3\% \text{ at } \sim 20 \text{ mins, n} = 10, p < 0.01)$ (Fig 14). No sIPSC potentiation was observed ($80.2 \pm 11.2\%$ at 20-25 mins after pairing, n=19, p=0.08) (Fig. 15). Because the absence of sIPSC potentiation was probably due to serious rundown of baseline after 20 mins, older animals (p25-30 days old) were tested to see whether they gave rise to more stable baseline. The baseline sIPSC sampled with 0.33 Hz stimulation exhibited slight rundown; the sIPSC amplitude 20-25 min after initiation of whole-cell patch-clamp recording was $80 \pm 27\%$ of the starting value (n=13, p=0.02) (Figure 16). In spite of this slightly reduction of the basal sIPSC with time, the pairing protocol induced potentiation of the sIPSC ($142 \pm 13\%$ at 20-25 min after pairing, n=14, p<0.01) (Figure 17).

المشار وارم

Whereas the pairing protocol induced LTP of the sIPSC in acute hippocampal slices as well as cultured slices, both the sIPSC amplitude and the extent of its potentiation were much greater in cultured slices, probably because the more exuberant innervation established by glutamatergic nerve fibers that remain in the slice culture made it more likely for the stimulation electrode to be situated near the interneurons and/or their presynaptic glutamatergic nerve fibers. Perhaps because of the relatively large stimulation strength necessary for a single stimulus to elicit an sIPSC in the acute slice, the pairing protocol caused some potentiation of the NMDA-R EPSC, similar to what has been observed in previous studies (Aniksztejn and Ben-Ari, 1995; Bashir et al., 1991; Watt et al., 2004). The long-lasting potentiation of the NMDA-R EPSC underscores that pairing postsynaptic depolarization with perforant path stimulation is effective in inducing synaptic plasticity in the acute slice. An increase in the NMDA-R EPSC after pairing, as well as the gradual rundown of the sIPSC, likely would cause underestimation of the extent of sIPSC potentiation in the acute slice. For these reasons, we have concentrated our efforts on characterizing the sIPSC potentiation in the slice culture for the rest of this study. The slice culture also made it possible to study the Nova-2 null mutant mice with early lethality (see below).

6 . ° . - ×

Potentiation of the sIPSC requires NMDA receptor activation in the postsynaptic CA1 neuron, but exhibits no pathway specificity

To further establish that the pairing protocol caused NMDA receptor activation leading to long-term potentiation of the sIPSC, we first showed that the potentiated sIPSC after the

pairing protocol was sensitive to the GABA_B receptor antagonist SCH50911 (Figure 18) as well as the GIRK channel blocker SCH23390 (Figure 19).

Pathway specificity is one of the important properties of EPSC LTP. Excitatory LTP is only elicited at the synapses stimulated by afferent activity but not at adjacent synapses on the same postsynaptic cell. To test whether sIPSC LTP has the same property, I placed 2 stimulation electrodes at two separated locations on the slice, one without stimulation during the pairing protocol for the control pathway, the other one with 3Hz stimulation during the pairing protocol, for the pairing pathway. No pathway specific of sIPSC potentitaion was observed (pairing pathway: $320 \pm 50\%$ 20-25 mins after pairing, n=8; control pathway: $290 \pm 100\%$ 20-25 mins after pairing, n=8, p=0.87) (Fig 20). Similar result has been observed for the interneuron plasticity (McMahon et al., 1997). The difference characteristic between EPSC LTP and sIPSC LTP could be due to different distribution of axons; whereas the Schaffer collaterals are highly orientated, the axons of interneurons are dispersed over the dendirtic field of CA1 neurons.

Next, we tested the dependence of the sIPSC potentiation on pairing-induced NMDA receptor activation. When we applied the NMDA receptor antagonist APV (100 μ M) as well as 5 μ M NBQX to block AMPA receptors and 100 μ M picrotoxin to block GABA_A receptors, we found no pairing-induced LTP of the sIPSC (102 ± 20% at 20-25 min after pairing, n=7, p=0.1) (Figure 21). In the presence of these glutamate receptor antagonists, a very small residual inward synaptic current remained probably due to the very strong stimulation strength. Moreover, the sIPSC amplitude was greatly reduced as well, likely

due to inefficient synaptic excitation of the inhibitory interneurons for the generation of the di-synaptic sIPSC. To get around this problem, we performed two additional control experiments.

First, we stimulated the presynaptic nerve fibers at 3 Hz without depolarizing the postsynaptic CA1 neuron, and found there was no persistent potentiation of the sIPSC $(123 \pm 26\% \text{ at } 20-25 \text{ min after pairing, n=6, p=0.1})$ (Figure 22). Second, we treated the cultured slices only with antagonists of the GABA_A receptors and NMDA receptors. Under this condition, there was no pairing-induced potentiation of the biphasic response composed of AMPA receptor-mediated EPSC (AMPA-R EPSC) and the sIPSC (90 \pm 12%, n=6, p=0.3) (Figure 23). Thus, notwithstanding the difficulty to assess precisely the extent of dendritic depolarization while the CA1 neuron was clamped to between -5 to 0 mV in K⁺-based internal solution, there must have been sufficient dendritic depolarization during the pairing protocol to induce NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic plasticity of the sIPSC. These experiments confirm that NMDA receptor activation via the pairing protocol induced LTP of the sIPSC. However, no correlation of between NMDA-R EPSC and fold of sIPSC potentiation (Fig 13) indicates that there are more than one group of synapses recruited to obtain NMDA-R EPSC and sIPSC. Only NMDA mediated EPSC or sIPSC was obtained from some of the connections, since only excitatory or inhibitory presynaptic was stimulated. No correlation of NMDA mediated EPSC and folds of potentiation of sIPSC was expected within this type of synapses. However, in the synapse that receives both excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter activation, correlation between NMDA mediated EPSC and fold of potentiation of sIPSC

1. 2 2 - 2 - 3

would be expected, because NMDA receptor activation was required for inducing sIPSC potentiation (Fig 21). The results may imply the majority of synapses recruited was the former type of synapses.

Induction of the sIPSC LTP is dependent on postsynaptic Ca²⁺ increase

Ca²⁺ entry through NMDA receptors is essential for inducing LTP of the EPSC (Malenka et al., 1988). To determine whether a rise in postsynaptic Ca²⁺ is also required for the sIPSC potentiation, we introduced Ca²⁺ chelators to the patch pipette solution to buffer the intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration. Whereas the pairing protocol still caused potentiation of the sIPSC when the intracellular Ca²⁺ level was moderately buffered by 1.1 mM EGTA including in normal internal solution, chelating Ca²⁺ within the CA1 neuron with 10 mM BAPTA eliminated pairing-induced LTP of the sIPSC (87 ± 19% at 20-25 min after pairing, n=6, p=0.6) (Figure 24). Thus, an increase in postsynaptic Ca²⁺ is essential for the induction of LTP of the sIPSC.

Even though pairing-induced potentiation of the sIPSC requires NMDA receptor activation and Ca²⁺ rise in the postsynaptic CA1 neuron, *a priori*, it remains possible that this potentiation could result from increased GABA release. For example, certain forms of synaptic plasticity involve retrograde signaling via endocannabinoids that are released from the postsynaptic neuron to activate presynaptic cannabinoid receptors (Carlson et al., 2002;Chevaleyre and Castillo, 2003; Piomelli, 2003; Wilson and Nicoll, 2001). Cannabinoid receptor-1 (CB1) is mainly expressed at the axon termininal of GABA- mediated inhibitory interneurons in the hippocampus (Wilson and Nicoll, 2001). Release of endogenous cannabinoids from pyramidal neurons by depolarization or activation of mGluR activates presynaptic CB1 receptors, which further suppress GABA-mediated transmission in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner. However, we found that with a selective antagonist for the CB1 cannabinoid receptor, AM251, potentiation of sIPSC can still be induced by pairing protocol $(370 \pm 33\% \text{ at } 20\text{-}25 \text{ min after pairing, n=5, p} < 0.001)$ (Figure 25). Moreover, the pairing protocol did not alter GABA release to an extent that affected the paired-pulse ratio of the fIPSC (0.74 \pm 0.04 before pairing versus 0.74 \pm 0.05 at 10 min after pairing, p=0.99; and 0.7 ± 0.04 at 20 min after pairing, p=0.5; n=5) (Figure 26). These experiments show that the pairing-induced LTP of the sIPSC could not be attributed to endocannabinoid retrograde signaling or increased GABA release. As a control, paired-pulse ratio of fIPSC was altered by changing from 0.5 mM $[Ca^{2+}]$ to 4 mM (0.5 mM Ca²⁺: 1.3 ± 0.2 , 4 mM Ca²⁺: 0.95 ± 0.1 , n= 6, p<0.01). Consistent with previous studies, slight depression of fIPSC was also observed after pairing (68.5 ± 20.2 , n=5, p=0.15) (Fig 27).

PKC is required for sIPSC potentiation maintenance

PKC is important for the induction LTP of EPSC (Malenka and Nicoll, 1999; Malenka and Bear, 2004). However, an atypical protein kinase C isozyme, protein kinase M zeta (ζ), is necessary and sufficient for LTP maintenance but not LTP induction (Ling et al., 2002; Serrano et al., 2005). The PKC inhibitor chelerythrin (20 μ M), which blocks conventional and novel PKCs at this concentration, was applied to see whether sIPSC LTP can still be elicited. No persistent potentiation was found with PKC inhibitor (106 ± 24% at 20-25 min after pairing, n=9, p=0.5) (Fig 28). It would be interesting to test whether PKMζ has a similar role in sIPSC potentiation by selectively blocking it with very low concentration of chelerythrin. The acidic cluster of GIRK2 contains a threonine residue that can be potentially phosphorylated by casein kinase II (Ma et al., 2002). Mutation of this site alters the surface expression level of homotermeric GIRK2. It is possible that an increase of casein kinase II activity would potentiate slow inhibition by increasing GIRK channel surface expression. However, treatment of slices with 20 μm DRB, a selective inhibitor of casein kinase II, potentiation of sIPSC can still be induced (373 ± 24% at 20-25 mins after pairing, n=9, p<0.005) (Fig 29).

Activation of CaMKII is both necessary and sufficient for inducing LTP of the sIPSC

هدور المراج

1. 9 3

المستعات بهام

Ca²⁺ influx through the NMDA receptor is known to activate CaMKII, leading to potentiation of the EPSC (Lisman et al., 2002; Malenka et al., 1989; Malinow et al., 1989). To test whether CaMKII activation is also necessary for inducing LTP of the sIPSC, we treated the slice with 10 μ M KN-93, a selective inhibitor of CaMKII. We found that this CaMKII inhibitor eliminated pairing-induced LTP of the sIPSC (90 ± 15% at 20-25 min after pairing, n=11, p=0.6) (Figure 30). Thus, like LTP of the EPSC, potentiation of the sIPSC requires CaMKII activation.

To ask whether postsynaptic CaMKII activity is sufficient to potentiate the sIPSC, we utilized the Sindbis virus to introduce into CA1 neurons a constitutively active form of this enzyme fused with EGFP, CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP, which is effective in causing

potentiation of the EPSC (Hayashi et al., 2000). We note that the great majority of the infected neurons are glutamatergic pyramidal neurons. For an internal control, we simultaneously recorded from an uninfected neuron and a nearby neuron expressing CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP (Figure 31). By comparing two adjacent neurons subjected to the same condition for synaptic stimulation, we found that the constitutively active CaMKII potentiated the sIPSC (6.1 \pm 0.5 pA for neurons expressing CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP versus 3.0 ± 1 pA for neighboring control neurons, n=16, p<0.0005) (Figure 32) but not the NMDA-R EPSC (46.0 \pm 10.7 pA for neurons expressing CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP versus 47.5 ± 12.5 pA for neighboring control neurons, n=17, p=0.4) (Figure 32). In control experiments, neurons expressing EGFP and their neighboring uninfected neurons yielded similar sIPSC (2.9 \pm 0.7 pA for neurons expressing EGFP versus 3.1 \pm 0.9 pA for neighboring control neurons, n=18, p=0.8) and NMDA-R EPSC (38.8 ± 5.1 pA for neurons expressing EGFP versus 40.9 ± 6.0 pA for neighboring control neurons, n=24, p=0.4) (Figure 33). Therefore, the CaMKII activity was sufficient for the potentiation of the sIPSC.

هده و ا

If NMDA receptor activation via the pairing protocol causes potentiation of the sIPSC by activating CaMKII in the postsynaptic CA1 neuron, expression of constitutively active CaMKII in the CA1 neuron not only should potentiate the sIPSC—as we have observed, it ought to occlude further potentiation of the sIPSC via the pairing protocol. Indeed, neurons expressing the constitutively active CaMKII showed no further potentiation of the sIPSC after the pairing protocol (113 \pm 54%, n=7, p=0.1), while control neurons expressing EGFP still exhibited pairing-induced LTP of the sIPSC (287 \pm 43%, n=4,

p<0.01) (Figure 34). These experiments demonstrate that the sIPSC was potentiated by the activation of CaMKII in the postsynaptic CA1 neurons.

The function of the RNA-binding protein Nova-2 is important for the potentiation of the sIPSC

Having established that the sIPSC mediated by GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels can be potentiated by activation of NMDA receptors and CaMKII in the CA1 neurons, we wondered whether this synaptic plasticity of slow inhibition might be subjected to concerted modulation of relevant synaptic proteins. One candidate for coordinating such modulation is Nova-2, because it regulates a network of synaptic proteins and one third of its targets are molecules involved in inhibitory synaptic transmission, including GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels (Ule et al., 2003; Ule et al., 2005).

To characterize synaptic transmission and plasticity in the Nova-2 null mice (M. Ruggiu and R. B. Darnell, unpublished data), which lived for 2-3 weeks after birth, we first measured the resting potential of CA1 neurons in cultured hippocampal slices, and found no difference between Nova-2 null mice (-60.6 \pm 3.5 mV, n=8) and their heterozygous siblings (-59.4 \pm 3.1 mV, n=5, p=0.5). In these experiments, PCR with specific primers determined the genotype of the litters (Fig 35). To test whether Nova-2 function is important for inhibitory synaptic transmission, we compared the null mutants with their heterozygous siblings and found no difference in the miniature fIPSC amplitude (5.3 \pm 0.4 pA for Nova-2^{-/-} versus 5.2 \pm 0.7 pA for Nova-2^{+/-}, n=5, p=0.4) (Figure 36). Moreover,

د. منابع 3. پر

by measuring the amplitudes of the sIPSC and fIPSC generated by nerve stimulation with increasing strengths, we found the null mutants and their heterozygous siblings exhibited a similar ratio of the slow and fast IPSC amplitudes (0.07 ± 0.02 for Nova-2^{-/-} versus 0.08 ± 0.02 for Nova-2^{+/-}, n=8, p=0.2) (Figure 37). Finally, in cultured slices treated with NBQX and picrotoxin to block AMPA receptors and GABA_A receptors, the ratio of the sIPSC and NMDA-R EPSC amplitudes was also comparable between Nova-2 null mice and controls (0.4 ± 0.1 for Nova-2^{-/-} versus 0.5 ± 0.1 for Nova-2^{+/-}, n=15, p=0.4) (Figure 38). Normal mIPSC, basal transmission of fIPSC and sIPSC implied the normal morphology of inhibitory synapses in Nova-2 null animals. Interestingly, whereas their heterozygous siblings yielded normal potentiation of the sIPSC (338 ± 39% at 20-25 min after pairing, n=6, p<0.01), the Nova-2 null mutants exhibited no pairing-induced LTP of the sIPSC (130 ± 38% at 20-25 min after pairing, n=8, p=0.5, Figure 39).

Given that the same machinery for inducing LTP of the EPSC also is required for the generation of LTP of the sIPSC, we further tested whether the Nova-2 function is necessary for pairing induced LTP of the EPSC. We examined the miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents and found the amplitude and frequency of these unitary responses to be normal in the null mutants (amplitude: 3.5 ± 0.3 pA for Nova-2^{-/-} versus 3.9 ± 0.6 pA for Nova-2^{+/-}, p=0.5; frequency: 0.5 ± 0.2 Hz for Nova-2^{-/-} versus 0.4 ± 0.2 Hz for Nova-2^{+/-}, p=0.7, n=7) (Figure 40). We then measured the AMPA-R EPSC at -60 mV and NMDA-R EPSC at +40 mV and found similar ratios of these glutamate receptor-mediated synaptic currents in Nova-2^{+/-}, n=7; p=0.91) (Figure 41). Next, we recorded the

NMDA receptor-mediated EPSC at different membrane potentials in the presence of the AMPA receptor antagonist NBQX, and found comparable voltage-dependence of the NMDA-R EPSC in Nova-2 null mutants and their sib controls (Figure 42). Finally, the pairing protocol elicited LTP of the EPSC in both heterozygous control mice $(171 \pm 14\%)$ for the pairing pathway, n=10, p<0.01; 99 ± 8% for the control pathway, n=5, p=0.8) and Nova-2 null mice $(177 \pm 14\%)$ for the pairing pathway, n=9, p<0.01; 99 ± 13% for the control pathway, n=4, p=0.93) (Figure 43). These experiments thus revealed no significant differences between Nova-2 null mice and control mice in excitatory synaptic transmission. Since the basal synaptic transmission appeared normal for excitation (Figure 40 and 41) and inhibition (Figure 36 and 37), and the capacity of inducing LTP of the EPSC remained in the Nova-2 null mutant (Figure 43), it appears that the machinery essential for potentiating the slow inhibition mediated by the GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels is specifically impaired in Nova-2 null mice.

Increase of GIRK channel surface expression by chemically induced LTP in hippocampal dissociated cultures

To determine the expression level of receptor/channel on the membrane, immunostaining dissociated cultures without permeabilization is a more direct way compared to electrophysiology. However, there are no antibodies against the extracellular part of GIRK channel, making it difficult to tract endogenous protein. Coexpression of GIRK2A and GIRK1, with an HA epitope insertion into extracellular loop (Ma et al., 2002) and green fluoresence protein fusion at the carboxyl terminus in mature hippocamal cultures (DIV 3-4 weeks) by gene gun showed very little surface staining of GIRK1, which was

quantified and normalized with total GIRK1 protein level (Fig 44 and 47). To detect activity-dependent surface trafficking of GIRK channel, neurons were bathed in APVcontaining culture medium for weeks, then changed to NBQX-containing culture medium for 2 hours, which increases insertion of AMPA receptors to induce LTP (Liao et al., 1999). However, it might be needed to further verify in our culture condition. This chemical LTP protocol significantly increased surface expression of GIRK channels (165 \pm 10% normalized to control, n=7, p<0.05) (Fig 45 and 47). However, similar effect was not observed in depolarized neurons with 25 mM KCl for 30 minutes (158 \pm 17%, normalized to control, n=6, p=0.09) (Fig 46). Strikingly, punctate and spine located GIRK surface staining was also induced in an activity-dependent manner (Fig 45, arrow). These results indicate GIRK channel surface insertion is activity-dependent, a possible mechanism underlying the sIPSC potentiation deserved in hippocampal slices.

, 4 : 3



- 1

6 1997 al

12.24





ę.

1

N 2.00

法规定 通

10.2.0

Fig 2.



4

,

Fig 3.



هر : : :

ج مند تاری

Fig 4.



-

Fig 5.



1

•ج ، . . ج •ــــــة

J.

و سيديو

Fig 6.



Fig 7.



- -

1. C. A.

- مد في

Fig 8.

•



Fig 9.

. -





: 1

. #

• • • 1

r. .

· · ·

٩

Rear B

11.19 11.19 12.19 12.19



- 1

#1 • `

وليت الج

-7

و دو در جيرو

Fig 11.



÷

ي جو • •

a

3.4- *

Fig 12.



- 🕂

74 1

)_- ⁷

Fig 13.



0-5 minutes 10-15 minutes 20-25 minutes

Fig 14



Fig 15



Fig 16.



Fig 17.



-

Fig 18.



: جنہ:

. مور ب

Fig 19.



Fig 20.



Fig 21.



Fig 22.



Fig 23.


Fig 24.



Fig 25.





T



Fig 27.



Fig 28.



- •

.

Fig 29.



Fig 30.





Fig 31.



CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP

Fig 32.





Fig 33.



Fig 34





ATT 2 日に湯

a l'a

Est

A.M.







1

ACT & BUIL

Ę

H . rim

ALL A

ALC: NO



BUTH B MAR

à

ACA .

in the

VL.

Fig 37.



5

No Pi Vn.

2

-

T

7

1 2 1

Fig 38.

)



W BALLER

ALL DE







-

Fig 40.







Fig 41.



i,

Fig 42.



-

Fig 43.







ķ















.



0.

.

-

. .

;

ł.

Fig 47.



Figure Legends

- Figure 1. Prominent GIRK2 immunofluorescence (red) in spines of EGFP-expressing neurons (green). Scale bar: 10 μm.
- Figure 2. Pathway in the spine for inducing LTP of the EPSC: Glutamate concurrent with depolarization relieving the Mg²⁺ block causes optimal NMDA receptor activation, Ca²⁺ entry and CaMKII activation.
- Figure 3. GIRK channel blocker SCH23390 reduces the biphasic response (black) to the NMDA-R EPSC (blue) sensitive to APV (red) (n=6). The time course of sIPSC reduction is also shown.
- Figure 4. Another GIRK channel blocker, Tertiapin, also eliminates the sIPSC (n=4).
- Figure 5. The sIPSC is sensitive to the GABA_B receptor antagonist SCH50911 (n=7). The overlay of the last two panels are shown at a different scale to highlight the sIPSC.
- Figure 6. There was relatively little correlation between the size of the NMDA-R EPSC and the amplitude of the sIPSC (linear correlation coefficient $R^2 = 0.5$)
- Figure 7. The amplitude of the sIPSC was reduced to $25.7 \pm 4.3\%$ (p<0.01) by blocking NMDA receptors mediating EPSC.
- Figure 8. Hippocampal slice culture with fairly stable baseline of sIPSC (filled circles) and NMDAR-EPSC (open circles) sampled at 0.33 Hz. Example traces (average of ~40-60 episodes) shown above plots of peak amplitudes (mean ± standard error) in this and subsequent figures.

Figure 9. Pairing 3 Hz stimulation with depolarization (-5 to 0 mV) for ~2.5 min potentiated the sIPSC (filled circle, 415 ± 40%, n=12, p<0.001) but not NMDA-R EPSC (open circle, 136 ± 50%, n=12, p=0.2) in slice culture. The series resistance

R_s (tope) and input resistance R_{in} (bottom) remained constant after pairing.

- Figure 10. The NMDA-R EPSC decay time constant (97 \pm 17 msec, n=7), measured in the presence of SCH50911, NBQX and picrotoxin, was not altered after pairing (90 \pm 10 msec, n=10, p=0.7) (bottom). Sample traces (black) are compared with idealized traces generated with the average decay time constant (red) (top).
- Figure 11. Pairing induced LTP of the sIPSC as assessed by integrating the sIPSC amplitude over time (normalized area: 2.9 ± 0.5 , n=12, p<0.05).
- Figure 12. There is no correlation between the amplitude and the extent of potentiation of the sIPSC (linear correlation index $R^2=0.4$)
- Figure 13. There is also no correlation between sIPSC potentiation and the NMDA-R EPSC amplitude ($R^2=0.1$).
- Figure 14. Acute hippocampal slice from p15-20 animals exhibited gradual depression of sIPSC (25.1 ± 9.3% at ~20 mins, n=10, p<0.01).
- Figure 15. No sIPSC potentiation was observed in acute slices from p15-20 animals (80.2 ± 11.2% at 20-25 mins after pairing, n=19, p=0.08).
- **Figure 16.** Acute hippocampal slice from p25-30 animals exhibited slight rundown of the sIPSC (80 ± 27%, n=13, p=0.02).
- Figure 17. Pairing-induced potentiation of the sIPSC ($142 \pm 13\%$ at 20-25 min after pairing, n = 14, p<0.01).

- Figure 18. The potentiated sIPSC is sensitive to the GABA_B receptor antagonist SCH50911.
- Figure 19. The potentiated sIPSC is also sensitive to the GIRK channel blocker SCH23390.
- Figure 20. No pathway specific of sIPSC potentiation was observed (pairing pathway: 320 ± 50%, 20-25 mins after pairing, n=7; control pathway: 290 ± 100% 20-25 mins after pairing, n=8, p=0.87).
- Figure 21. Treatment of slice culture with APV as well as NBQX reduced both EPSC and sIPSC amplitudes and eliminated LTP of the sIPSC ($102 \pm 20\%$, n=7, p=0.1).
- Figure 22. 3 Hz stimulation without concurrent postsynaptic depolarization failed to induce sustained potentiation of the sIPSC ($123 \pm 26\%$, n=6, p=0.1).
- Figure 23. Treatment with the NMDA receptor antagonist APV but not the AMPA receptor antagonist NBQX eliminated LTP of the sIPSC ($90 \pm 12\%$, n=6, p=0.3) while preserving its size.
- Figure 24. Chelating postsynaptic Ca^{2+} with 10 mM BAPTA in the pipette solution abolished LTP of the sIPSC (87 ± 19%, n=6, p=0.6).
- Figure 25. Pairing-induced sIPSC potentiation persisted in the presence of the CB1 receptor antagonist AM-251 (370 ± 33%, n=5, p<0.001).
- Figure 26. Pairing did not alter the paired pulse ratio of the fIPSC (0.74 ± 0.04 before pairing versus 0.74 ± 0.05 at 10 min after pairing, p=0.99; and 0.7 ± 0.04 at 20 min after pairing, p=0.5, n=5) (bottom). Because the pairing protocol caused depression of the fIPSC as previously reported, the overlay compares the time course of traces before pairing with normalized traces after pairing (top).

- Figure 27. Slightly depression of fIPSC was observed after pairing (68.5 \pm 20.2, n=5, p=0.15)
- Figure 28. No persistent potentiation was found with PKC inhibitor ($106 \pm 24\%$ at 20-25 mins after pairing, n=9, p=0.5).
- Figure 29. sIPSC potentiation was still observed with casein kinase II inhibitor $(373 \pm 24\% \text{ at } 20\text{-}25 \text{ mins after pairing}, n=9, p<0.005)$
- Figure 30. The CaMKII inhibitor KN-93 prevented pairing-induced sIPSC potentiation $(90 \pm 15\%, n=11, p=0.6)$.
- Figure 31. Images of CA1 neurons expressing CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP (left) and pair-wise recording from one infected neuron and a nearby uninfected neuron (dotted outline) seen with transmitted light (upper right) and fluorescence microscopy (lower right). Scale bars: 25 µm.
- Figure 32. Expression of constitutively active CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP potentiated sIPSC (right, 6.1 ± 0.5 pA for inf, 3.0 ± 1 pA for uninf; n=16, p<0.0005) but not NMDA-R EPSC (left, 46.0 ± 10.7 pA for inf, 47.5 ± 12.5 pA for uninf; n=17, p=0.4).
- Figure 33. Pair-wise comparison between control infected (inf) neurons expressing EGFP and nearby uninfected (uninf) neurons revealed no difference in sIPSC (right, 2.9 ± 0.7 pA for inf, 3.1 ± 0.9 pA for uninf; n=18, p-0.8) or NMDAR-EPSC (left, 40.9 ± 6.0 pA for inf, 38.8 ± 5.1 pA for uninf; n=24, p=0.4).
- **Figure 34**. No further potentiation of the sIPSC in neurons expressing constitutively active CaMKII(1-290)-EGFP (113 ± 54%, n=7, p=0.1), in contrast to control neurons expressing EGFP (287 ± 43%, n=4, p<0.01).

- Figure 35. PCR with 2 pairs of specific primers determined the genotype of litters, wild type locus gave the band around 450bp (upper), targeted locus gave the band around 550 bp (lower). Therefore, No. 2, 4, 11 and 12 were wildtype, No. 7 and 13 were knockout, the rest were heterozygous.
- Figure 36. The miniature fIPSC of Nova-2 null mice has normal amplitude $(5.3 \pm 0.4 \text{ pA}$ in mutant mice versus 5.2 ± 0.7 in control, p=0.8) and frequency $(1.4 \pm 0.3 \text{ Hz} \text{ in}$ mutant mice versus $1.6 \pm 0.4 \text{ Hz}$ in control, p=0.4).
- Figure 37. The ratio of sIPSC and fIPSC in Nova-2 null mice $(0.07 \pm 0.02, n=8)$ is similar to that in control mice $(0.09 \pm 0.02, n=8, p=0.2)$.
- Figure 38. The ratio of sIPSC and NMDA-R EPSC in Nova-2 null mutant (0.5 \pm 0.1n=15) is comparable to that in control mice (0.4 \pm 0.1, n=15, p=0.4).
- Figure 39. Nova-2 null mice exhibited no pairing-induced sIPSC potentiation (130 \pm 38%, n=8, p=0.5), unlike their heterozygous siblings (338 \pm 39%, n=6, p<0.01).
- Figure 40. The miniature EPSC of Nova-2 null mice has normal amplitude (3.5 ± 0.3 pA in mutant mice versus 3.9 ± 0.6 in control, n=7, p=0.5) and frequency (0.5 ± 0.2 Hz in mutant mice versus 0.4 ± 0.2 Hz in control, n=7, p=0.7)
- **Figure 41.** The ratio of AMPA-R EPSC and NMDA-R EPSC appears normal in Nova-2 null mice (2.3 ± 0.9 for Nova-2 ^{-/-} versus 2.5 ± 0.8 for Nova-2 ^{+/-} n=7; n=8, p=0.9).
- **Figure 42**. The voltage-dependence of the NMDA-R EPSC is comparable in Nova-2 null mutants and controls.
- Figure 43. Similar pairing-induced LTP of the EPSC in Nova-2 null mice ($177 \pm 14\%$, n=9, p<0.01 for the pairing pathway; 99±13%, n=4, p=0.9 for the control

pathway) and their heterozygous siblings ($171 \pm 14\%$, n=10, p<0.01 for the pairing pathway; 99 ± 8%, n=5, p=0.8 for the control pathway).

- Figure 44. Cultured hippocamal neuron (DIV3-4 weeks) transfected with GIRK1-ha-EGPF and GIRK2 by gene gun. Without any treatment, very few of GIRK protein was on the cell surface (red) relative to total protein (green).
- Figure 45. With same transfection as figure 44, same cultured neurons were treated with NBQX for 3-4 weeks than APV for 2 hours. This protocol significantly increased surface expression of GIRK1 (red) relative to total protein (green).
- Figure 46. With same transfection as figure 44, same culture neurons were treated with 25mM of KCl for 30 minutes which also increased surface GIRK expression (red) relative to total protein (green).
- Figure 47. Quantitation analysis showed increase of surface GIRK over total protein in NMDA activation and KCl treatment (control: 100 ± 15.7%, n=5; NMDA activation: 165 ±10%, n= 7, p<0.05; KCl depolarization: 158 ± 17%, n=6, p=0.09).

Discussion and Future directions

For neurons to communicate with one another, ionotropic transmitter receptors generate fast synaptic responses whereas metabotropic transmitter receptors generate slow synaptic potentials that are long lasting partly due to the mobilization of G proteins and downstream second messengers and effectors (Hille, 2001). Moreover, the ability of metabotropic receptors to respond to transmitter released at a distance not only further prolongs the slow synaptic potentials, it also provides one venue for neurons to integrate and process synaptic inputs. In this study, we have explored the physiological implication of the unexpected placement of both GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels in the dendritic spines (Drake et al., 1997; Kulik et al., 2003).

Our study has uncovered a new form of synaptic plasticity, LTP of the sIPSC mediated by GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels (Figure 2), due to NMDA receptor activation via concurrent glutamate release and depolarization of the postsynaptic CA1 neuron (Figure 21-23). Like LTP of the EPSC (Malenka et al., 1989; Malenka et al., 1988; Malinow et al., 1989), LTP of the sIPSC requires elevation of postsynaptic Ca²⁺ level (Figure 24) and activation of postsynaptic CaMKII (Figure 30). Moreover, expression of **Constitutively active CaMKII** in CA1 neurons was sufficient to potentiate the sIPSC (Figure 33), and to occlude the pairing-induced LTP of the sIPSC (Figure 34). This novel form of synaptic plasticity of the slow synaptic inhibition is specifically affected in the Nova-2 null mice (Figure 36 - 43), raising the intriguing possibility that one of the physiological functions of the Nova-2 RNA-binding protein is to enable central neurons to adjust their slow synaptic inhibition based on neuronal activity.

What might be the physiological significance of potentiating slow synaptic inhibition via the pairing protocol for coincidence detection?

Potentiation of the sIPSC could narrow the time window for the coincidence detection of excitatory synaptic inputs; late arriving excitatory inputs would be at a disadvantage imposed by both hyperpolarization and increased membrane conductance due to the potentiated slow inhibition. Importantly, in small structures like the dendritic spines, slow synaptic inhibition mediated by K⁺ channel activation via GABA_B receptors is likely to be more effective in dampening the excitatory inputs—in principle—than the fast synaptic inhibition due to Cl⁻ current through GABA_A receptors, because the Cl⁻ concentration rise in small structures is predicted to significantly decrease the driving force for Cl⁻ ions (Qian and Sejnowski, 1990). Thus, the localization of both GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels in dendritic spines (Figure 1) (Drake et al., 1997; Kulik et al., 2003) not only enables the same signaling pathway for synaptic plasticity of excitatory synaptic potentials to induce long-lasting changes of slow synaptic inhibition, potentiation of slow inhibitory synaptic potentials due to GIRK channel activity also

In addition to reducing excitation at dendritic spines, slow synaptic inhibition may also induce failures of action potential propagation along axons, particularly at axonal branch points (Debanne, 2004; Debanne et al., 1997; Kopysova and Debanne, 1998). Thus,

potentiation of the sIPSC could sharpen the coincidence detection of synchronous excitatory synaptic inputs, a hallmark for learning and memory, in a variety of ways—by reducing the impact of late arriving excitatory inputs within the spines that receive the synaptic excitation, and by decreasing the likelihood that excitation by late arriving synaptic inputs will be productive in causing transmitter release from the nerve terminals.

Long-term potentiation of slow synaptic inhibition may also modulate rhythmic activities such as the theta oscillation (4-7 Hz) important for learning and memory (Hyman et al., 2003; O'Keefe, 1993; Sederberg et al., 2003; Seidenbecher et al., 2003). Interneurons are remarkably effective in synchronizing this oscillatory firing pattern of hippocampal pyramidal neurons (Cobb et al., 1995). It is of interest to note that blockade of GABA_B receptors increases the frequency of oscillation, which can be reversed by the GABA uptake blocker (Scanziani, 2000). If theta modulation indeed depends on postsynaptic GABA_B receptors, LTP of the sIPSC is likely to slow theta oscillation hence shift its phase, a crucial temporal parameter in filtering out specific synaptic activities for potentiation or depression (Hyman et al., 2003).

How might Nova-2 function to enable synaptic plasticity of slow inhibition?

Nova proteins bind with high affinity to known sequence motifs in the RNA to regulate alternative splicing (Dredge and Darnell, 2003; Jensen et al., 2000; Musunuru and Darnell, 2001; Ule et al., 2003; Ule et al., 2005). As paraneoplastic neurologic disease antigens, these RNA-binding proteins are probably responsible for the POMA patients' reduced inhibitory control of movements and dementia (Albert and Darnell, 2004;

Buckanovich et al., 1993; Hormigo et al., 1994; Pranzatelli, 1992; Yang et al., 1998). Interestingly, a significant fraction of the RNAs that bind Nova-2 code for proteins that mediate synaptic inhibition, including GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels (Ule et al., 2003). The ability of hippocampal neurons from Nova-2 null mice to exhibit LTP of the EPSC (Figure 43) but not the sIPSC (Figure 39) strongly suggests that Nova-2 exerts its functions specifically on the machinery for slow synaptic inhibition and endows it with the capacity to respond to NMDA receptor activation with long lasting changes.

How might Nova-2 contribute to synaptic plasticity of slow inhibition? Multiple variants for both GABA_B receptors and GIRK channels exist due to alternative splicing (Isomoto et al., 1998; Martin et al., 2001; Pfaff et al., 1999; Wei et al., 1998) or alternative promoter usage (Steiger et al., 2004), to diversify their function and their traffic pattern (Charles et al., 2001; Ma et al., 2002; Martin et al., 2004). As an RNA-binding protein known to regulate splicing of molecules important for synaptic transmission and plasticity (Ule et al., 2005), Nova-2 may function in CA1 neurons to dictate appropriate representations of the splice variants of GABA_B receptors, GIRK channels or other associated molecules (Couve et al., 2001; Couve et al., 2004; Nehring et al., 2000; Vernon et al., 2001; White et al., 2000), perhaps to ensure that these molecules in dendritic spines and other synaptic sites are suitably equipped to respond to signaling downstream of the coincidence detector, the NMDA receptor. Especially, RNA of numbers of important molecules which are required for potentiation of slow synaptic inhibition are also targets of Nova-2 protein, such as NMDA receptors and α CaMKII (Ule et al., 2005). While altered splicing patterns are evident from analyses of different

CNS regions of Nova-1 and Nova-2 null mice (Dredge and Darnell, 2003; Jensen et al., 2000; Ule et al., 2005), further studies will be necessary to uncover cell type-specific functions of Nova proteins. In this regard, it is worth noting that regulation of splicing of various K^+ channels and Ca^{2+} channels in individual neurons, or specific subsets of neurons, plays physiologically important roles in fine tuning excitability (Baranauskas et al., 2003; Bell et al., 2004; Fettiplace and Fuchs, 1999).

Whereas Nova proteins are known to regulate alternative splicing, given the intriguing coupling between RNA splicing and cytoplasmic RNA targeting and regulation (Gu et al., 2002; Hachet and Ephrussi, 2001; Hachet and Ephrussi, 2004; Kataoka et al., 2000; Le Hir et al., 2000; Palacios, 2002), a physiological role of Nova-2 outside the nucleusin neuronal soma or processes-remains an interesting possibility for future studies. Unpublished data from Darnell's group demonstrated by immnocytochemistry EM the cytoplasmic localization of Nova-2, close to inhibitory synapses. Additionally, GABA_{B1} mRNA is enriched in hippocampus synpatosome preparations compared to whole hippocampus and so as GABA_{B2} and GIRK2 mRNAs (Personal communication, Raab-Graham). Recent studies have shown that synaptic activity can trigger the transport of new mRNA transcripts to synaptic sites and modulate the translation of mRNA already in place (Ju et al., 2004; Ouyang et al., 1997; Smith et al., 2005). Therefore, it is conceivable that Nova-2 protein affects the plasticity of slow synaptic inhibition by interacting with target mature RNAs (such as GIRK, GABA_B receptors or other molecules) outside of nucleus as well, and this RNA-protein interaction could be regulated by neuronal activity. To test whether the local protein synthesis is required for

potentiation of slow inhibition, protein translation inhibitors such as cycloheximide, anisomycin, or rapamycin, could be applied during slice recording first. Other tests may involve overexpression of GIRK or GABA_B receptors fused with tetracysteine motif (EAAAREACCRECCARA), and application of FIAsH-EDT₂ and ReAsH-EDT₂ before and after inducing synaptic activity in dissociated neuronal cultures (Ju et al., 2004). These two fluorescent dyes, when applying sequentially, would help to determine preexisting and newly synthesis protein (Gaietta et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2002). To test for the involvement of such activity-induced local protein synthesis, similar experiments could also be carried out using Nova-2 null.

What is the mechanism underlying slow synaptic inhibition downstream of CaMKII activation?

To determine the expression level of receptor/channel on the membrane, immunostaining without permeabilization or biochemistry by directing labeling surface protein in dissociated neurons is more straightforward compare to electrophysiology. However, destruction of neuronal networks in dissociated neuronal cultures makes it difficult to induce plasticity by activating a specific group of synapses. Different protocols of chemical induced LTP were developed by many labs to change neuronal activity in entire networks for a timescale of days or even weeks (Liao et al., 1999; Lu et al., 2001). The mechanisms underlying this homeostatic plasticity may not be exactly the same as Hebbian modification, which only happens in selective pre- and postsynaptic sites with no overall modification in total synaptic weight over a timescale of hours (Burrone et al., 2002; Royer and Pare, 2003). Therefore, it needs to be scrutinized by additional
experiments to further test whether increase of GIRK trafficking to the membrane is the mechanism underlying plasticity of slow inhibition, whereas activity depedent GIRK trafficking was observed in dissociated cultured system. Eletrophysiological tags with different electrophysiological property (such as rectification) have been used in some studies to discriminate these tagged proteins from endogenous protein (Shi et al., 2001). Therefore, an eletrophysiological tag altering rectification, but without changing any other channel properties, might be a plausible way to pursue this question. Mutation of the negative charged E224 and E299 in Kir2.1 reduces inward rectification due to loss of docking sites for cations (Stanfield et al., 2002; Taglilatela et al., 1995; Yang et al., 1995). However, mutation of both or either one of two sites on GIRK1 and/or GIRK2, which are equivalent to E224 and E299 on Kir2.1, had no effect on GIRK channel rectification (Data not shown). Overexpression of both GIRK1 and GIRK2 or only GIRK2 in GIRK2 null background will allow further test whether GIRK channel trafficking is the mechanism of plasticity of slow synaptic inhibition. Moreover, expression of truncated or other mutation forms of the channel would be useful to identify the motif important to this activity dependent trafficking. However, alteration of GABA_B receptor function or trafficking cannot be excluded. Similar methods could be applied to determine the role of $GABA_B$ receptors in the plasticity of slow inhibition.

Why would the pontentiation of sIPSC only happen in st. lacunosum-moleculare?

Due to the high expression of GIRK1 and GABA_B receptors on the dendritic spines in st. lacunosum-moleculare (Kulik et al., 2003; Drake et al., 1997), stimulation electrodes were placed on this layer in both slice culture and acute slice experiments. Interneurons

in the hippocampus are very diverse and almost impossible to classify them into functional or anatomical sub-populations (Parra et al., 1998; Jonas et al., 2004; McBain and Fisahn, 2001). However, perforant pathway-associated interneurons, which stratify in st. lacunosum-moleculare synapse onto the dendritic spines and shafts of CA1 neurons(Vida et al., 1998). Therefore, it is likely that potentiation of sIPSC can only be triggered with specific groups of interneurons which make synaptic contact onto the spines where GIRK1 and GABA_B receptors and glutamatergic synapses colocolize.

In addition, different subtypes of NMDA receptors may be activated in the schaffer collateral and perforant pathway inputs (Arrigoni and Greene, 2004). A greater NR2B subunit contributes the NMDA component of the schaffer collateral EPSC, compared to the NMDA component of the perporant pathway EPSC. Interestingly, the NR2B subunit appears to be important to the induction of LTD but not LTP, whereas NR2A subunit is critical for the induction of LTP but not LTD (Liu et al., 2004). The different distribution of NMDA subunits in these two pathways could further affect the induction of sIPSC potentiation. This hypothesis can be tested by inducing plasticity of sIPSC with different NMDAR subunit specific antagonists (Liu et al., 2004).

References

Aakalu, G., W. B. Smith, N. Nguyen, C. Jiang, and E. M. Schuman. Dynamic visualization of local protein synthesis in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 30: 489-502, 2001.

2. Albert, M. L., and R. B. Darnell. Paraneoplastic neurological degerations: keys to tumour immunity. *Nat Rev Cancer* 4: 36-44, 2004.

3. Arrigoni, E., and R. W. Greene. Schaffer collateral and perforant path inputs activate different subtypes of NMDA receptors on the same CA1 pyramidal cell. *Br J Pharmacol.* 142: 317-22, 2004.

4. Barria, A., D. Muller, V. Derkach, L. C. Griffith, and T. R. Soderling. Regulatory phosphorylation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors by CaMKII during long-term potentiation. *Science* 276: 2042-5, 1997.

5. Bashir, Z. I., S. Alford, S. N. Davies, A. D. Randall, and G. L. Collingridge. Long-term potentiation of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. *Nature* 349: 156-158, 1991.

Bayer, K. U., P. De Koninck, A. S. Leonard, J. W. Hell, and H. Schulman.
 Interaction with the NMDA receptor locks CaMKII in an active conformation. *Nature* 411: 801-5, 2001.

7. Bell, T. J., C. Thaler, A. J. Castiglioni, T. D. Helton, and D. Lipscombe. Cellspecific alternative splicing increases calcium channel current density in the pain pathway. *Nature* 41: 127-138, 2004.

8. Bettler, B., K. Kaupmann, J. Mosbacher, and M. Gassmann. Molecular structure and physiological functions of GABA(B) receptors. *Physiol Rev* 84: 835-867, 2004.

102

9. Bi, G., and M. Poo. Synaptic modification by correlated activity: Hebb's postulate revisited. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* 24: 139-66, 2001.

10. Bi, G. Q., and H. X. Wang. Temporal asymmetry in spike timing-dependent synaptic plasticity. *Physiol Behav.* 77: 551-5, 2002.

11. Billinton, A., A. O. Ige, J. P. Bolam, J. H. White, F. H. Marshall, and P. C. Emson. Advances in the molecular understanding of GABA(B) receptors. *Trends Neurosci.* 24: 277-82, 2001.

12. Billinton, A., N. Upton, and N. G. Bowery. GABA(B) receptor isoforms GBR1a and GBR1b, appear to be associated with pre- and post-synaptic elements respectively in rat and human cerebellum. *Br J Pharmacol.* 126: 1387-92, 1999.

13. Blichenberg, A., B. Schwanke, M. Rehbein, C. C. Garner, D. Richter, and S. Kindler. Identification of a cis-acting dendritic targeting element in MAP2 mRNAs. *J Neurosci.* 19: 8818-29, 1999.

14. Bliss, T. V., and G. L. Collingridge. A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature*. 361: 31-9, 1993.

Bolser, D. C., D. J. Blythin, R. W. Chapman, R. W. Egan, J. A. Hey, C. Rizzo, S.
 C. Kuo, and W. Kreutner. The pharmacology of SCH 50911: a novel, orally-active
 GABA-beta receptor antagonist. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 274: 1393-1398, 1995.

16. Brewer, G. J., J. R. Torricelli, E. K. Evege, and P. J. Price. Optimized survival of hippocampal neurons in B27-supplemented Neurobasal, a new serum-free medium combination. *J Neurosci Res* 35: 567-576, 1993.

17. Buckanovich, R. J., J. B. Posner, and R. B. Darnell. Nova, the paraneoplastic Ri antigen, is homologous to an RNA-binding protein and is specifically expressed in the developing motor system. *Neuron* 11: 657-672, 1993.

Burgin, K. E., M. N. Waxham, S. Rickling, S. A. Westgate, W. C. Mobley, and P. T. Kelly. In situ hybridization histochemistry of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase in developing rat brain. *J Neurosci* 10: 1788-98, 1990.

Burrone, J., M. O'Byrne, and V. N. Murthy. Multiple forms of synaptic plasticity triggered by selective suppression of activity in individual neurons. *Nature*. 420: 414-8, 2002.

20. Caillard, O., Y. Ben-Ari, and J. L. Gaiarsa. Activation of presynaptic and postsynaptic ryanodine-sensitive calcium stores is required for the induction of long-term depression at GABAergic synapses in the neonatal rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci.* 20: 1-5, 2000.

21. Caillard, O., Y. Ben-Ari, and J. L. Gaiarsa. Mechanisms of induction and expression of long-term depression at GABAergic synapses in the neonatal rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci.* 19: 7568-77, 1999.

22. Calver, A. R., M. J. Robbins, C. Cosio, S. Q. Rice, A. J. Babbs, W. D. Hirst, I.
Boyfield, M. D. Wood, R. B. Russell, G. W. Price, A. Couve, S. J. Moss, and M. N.
Pangalos. The C-terminal domains of the GABA(b) receptor subunits mediate
intracellular trafficking but are not required for receptor signaling. *J Neurosci.* 21: 1203-10, 2001.

23. Carlson, G., Y. Wang, and B. E. Alger. Endocannabinoids facilitate the induction of LTP in the hippocampus. *Nat Neurosci.* 5: 723-4, 2002.

104

24. Carroll, R. C., E. C. Beattie, H. Xia, C. Luscher, Y. Altschuler, R. A. Nicoll, R. C. Malenka, and M. von Zastrow. Dynamin-dependent endocytosis of ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 96: 14112-7, 1999.

25. Charles, K. J., M. L. Evans, M. J. Robbins, A. R. Calver, R. A. Leslie, and M. N. Pangalos. Comparative immunohistochemical localisation of GABA(B1a), GABA(B1b) and GABA(B2) subunits in rat brain, spinal cord and dorsal root ganglion. *Neuroscience* 106: 447-467, 2001.

26. Chevaleyre, V., and P. E. Castillo. Heterosynaptic LTD of hippocampal
GABAergic synapses: a novel role of endocannabinoids in regulating excitability. *Neuron* 38: 461-472, 2003.

27. Contractor, A., and S. F. Heinemann. Glutamate receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity. *Sci STKE* 156: 14-21, 2002.

Dascal, N. Signalling via the G protein-activated K+ channels. *Cell Signal*. 9: 551-73, 1997.

29. Davies, C. H., S. J. Starkey, M. F. Pozza, and G. L. Collingridge. GABA autoreceptors regulate the induction of LTP. *Nature*. 349: 609-11, 1991.

30. De Simoni, A., C. B. Griesinger, and F. A. Edwards. Development of rat CA1 neurones in acute versus organotypic slices: role of experience in synaptic morphology and activity. *J Physiol* 550: 135-47, 2003.

Debanne, D. Information processing in the axon. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 5: 304-316,
 2004.

32. Debanne, D., N. C. Guerineau, B. H. Gahwiler, and S. M. Thompson. Actionpotential propagation gated by an axonal I(A)-like K+ conductance in hippocampus. *Nature* 389: 286-289, 1997.

33. DePaoli, A. M., G. I. Bell, and M. Stoffel. G protein-activated inwardly rectifying potassium channel (GIRK1/KGA) mRNA in adult rat heart and brain by in situ hybridization histochemistry. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* 5: 515-22, 1994.

34. Derkach, V., A. Barria, and T. R. Soderling. Ca2+/calmodulin-kinase II enhances channel conductance of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate type glutamate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96: 3269-74, 1999.

35. Drake, C. T., S. B. Bausch, T. A. Milner, and C. Chavkin. GIRK1 immunoreactivity is present predominantly in dendrites, dendritic spines, and somata in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94: 1007-1012, 1997.

36. Dredge, B. K., and R. B. Darnell. Nova regulates GABA(A) receptor gamma2 alternative splicing via a distal downstream UCAU-rich intronic splicing enhancer. *Mol Cell Biol* 23: 4687-4700, 2003.

37. Dredge, B. K., A. D. Polydorides, and R. B. Darnell. The splice of life: alternative splicing and neurological disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* 2: 43-50, 2001.

38. Dutar, P., and R. A. Nicoll. A physiological role for GABAB receptors in the central nervous system. *Nature*. 332: 156-8, 1988.

39. Ehlers, M. D., E. T. Fung, R. J. O'Brien, and R. L. Huganir. Splice variantspecific interaction of the NMDA receptor subunit NR1 with neuronal intermediate filaments. *J Neurosci.* 18: 720-30, 1998. 40. Ehlers, M. D., W. G. Tingley, and R. L. Huganir. Regulated subcellular distribution of the NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor. *Science* 269: 1734-7, 1995.

41. English, J. D., and J. D. Sweatt. A requirement for the mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in hippocampal long term potentiation. *J Biol Chem* 272: 19103-6, 1997.

42. Esteban, J. A., S. H. Shi, C. Wilson, M. Nuriya, R. L. Huganir, and R. Malinow. PKA phosphorylation of AMPA receptor subunits controls synaptic trafficking underlying plasticity. *Nat neurosci* 6: 136-143, 2003.

43. Ferns, M., W. Hoch, J. T. Campanelli, F. Rupp, Z. W. Hall, and R. H. Scheller. RNA splicing regulates agrin-mediated acetylcholine receptor clustering activity on cultured myotubes. *Neuron* 8: 1079-86, 1992.

44. Filippov, A. K., A. Couve, M. N. Pangalos, F. S. Walsh, D. A. Brown, and S. J. Moss. Heteromeric assembly of GABA(B)R1 and GABA(B)R2 receptor subunits inhibits Ca(2+) current in sympathetic neurons. *J Neurosci.* 20: 2867-74, 2000.

45. Fink, C. C., and T. Meyer. Molecular mechanisms of CaMKII activation in neuronal plasticity. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* 12: 293-9, 2002.

46. Freund, T. F., and G. Buzsaki. Interneurons of the hippocampus. *Hippocampus* 6: 347-370, 1996.

47. Frey, U., M. Krug, R. Brodemann, K. Reymann, and H. Matthies. Long-term potentiation induced in dendrites separated from rat's CA1 pyramidal somata does not establish a late phase. *Neurosci Lett.* 97: 135-9, 1989.

48. Gaiarsa, J. L., O. Caillard, and Y. Ben-Ari. Long-term plasticity at GABAergic and glycinergic synapses: mechanisms and functional significance. *Trends Neurosci* 25: 564-570, 2002. 49. Gaietta, G., T. J. Deerinck, S. R. Adams, J. Bouwer, O. Tour, D. W. Laird, G. E. Sosinsky, R. Y. Tsien, and M. H. Ellisman. Multicolor and electron microscopic imaging of connexin trafficking. *Science*. 296: 503-7, 2002.

50. Garner, C. C., R. P. Tucker, and A. Matus. Selective localization of messenger RNA for cytoskeletal protein MAP2 in dendrites. *Nature* 336: 674-7, 1988.

51. Greenough, W. T., A. Y. Klintsova, S. A. Irwin, R. Galvez, K. E. Bates, and I. J. Weiler. Synaptic regulation of protein synthesis and the fragile X protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98: 7101-6, 2001.

52. Hachet, O., and A. Ephrussi. Splicing of oskar RNA in the nucleus is coupled to its cytoplasmic localization. *Nature* 428: 959-963, 2004.

53. Han, J., D. Kang, and D. Kim. Properties and modulation of the G protein-coupled K+ channel in rat cerebellar granule neurons: ATP versus phosphatidylinositol
4,5-bisphosphate. *J Physiol.* 550: 693-706, 2003.

54. Harris, K. M. Structure, development, and plasticity of dendritic spines. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 9: 343-348, 1999.

55. Harrison, N. L. On the presynaptic action of baclofen at inhibitory synapses between cultured rat hippocampal neurones. *J Physiol.* 422: 433-46, 1990.

56. Hayashi, Y., S. H. Shi, J. A. Esteban, A. Piccini, J. C. Poncer, and R. Malinow. Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: requirement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction. *Science* 287: 2262-2267, 2000.

57. Hedin, K. E., N. F. Lim, and D. E. Clapham. Cloning of a Xenopus laevis inwardly rectifying K+ channel subunit that permits GIRK1 expression of IKACh currents in oocytes. *Neuron.* 16: 423-9, 1996.

58. Hoffman, D. A., J. C. Magee, C. M. Colbert, and D. Johnston. K+ channel
regulation of signal propagation in dendrites of hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Nature*.
387: 869-75, 1997.

59. Huang, C. L., S. Feng, and D. W. Hilgemann. Direct activation of inward rectifier potassium channels by PIP2 and its stabilization by Gbetagamma. *Nature*. 391: 803-6, 1998.

60. Huang, E. P. Synaptic transmission: spillover at central synapses. *Curr Biol* 8: R613-5, 1998.

61. Husi, H., M. A. Ward, J. S. Choudhary, W. P. Blackstock, and S. G. Grant. Proteomic analysis of NMDA receptor-adhesion protein signaling complexes. *Nat Neurosci* 3: 661-9, 2000.

62. Ikeda, K., T. Kobayashi, T. Kumanishi, H. Niki, and R. Yano. Involvement of Gprotein-activated inwardly rectifying K (GIRK) channels in opioid-induced analgesia. *Neurosci Res.* 38: 113-6, 2000.

63. Ikeda, K., T. Kobayashi, T. Kumanishi, R. Yano, I. Sora, and H. Niki. Molecular mechanisms of analgesia induced by opioids and ethanol: is the GIRK channel one of the keys? *Neurosci Res.* 44: 121-131, 2002.

64. Ikeda, K., M. Yoshii, I. Sora, and T. Kobayashi. Opioid receptor coupling to GIRK channels. In vitro studies using a Xenopus oocyte expression system and in vivo studies on weaver mutant mice. *Methods Mol Med.* 84: 53-64, 2003.

65. Impey, S., K. Obrietan, S. T. Wong, S. Poser, S. Yano, G. Wayman, J. C. Deloulme, G. Chan, and D. R. Storm. Phosphorylation and inhibition of olfactory

adenylyl cyclase by CaM kinase II in Neurons: a mechanism for attenuation of olfactory signals. *Neuron* 21: 495-504, 1998.

66. Inanobe, A., Y. Yoshimoto, Y. Horio, K. I. Morishige, H. Hibino, S. Matsumoto, Y. Tokunaga, T. Maeda, Y. Hata, Y. Takai, and Y. Kurachi. Characterization of Gprotein-gated K+ channels composed of Kir3.2 subunits in dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra. *J Neurosci.* 19: 1006-17, 1999.

67. Isaacson, J. S. Spillover in the spotlight. Curr Biol. 10: R475-7, 2000.

68. Isomoto, S., M. Kaibara, Y. Sakurai-Yamashita, Y. Nagayama, Y. Uezono, K. Yano, and K. Taniyama. Cloning and tissue distribution of novel splice variants of the rat GABAB receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 253: 10-15, 1998.

69. Jelacic, T. M., S. M. Sims, and D. E. Clapham. Functional expression and characterization of G-protein-gated inwardly rectifying K+ channels containing GIRK3. *J Membr Biol.* 169: 123-9, 1999.

70. Jensen, K. B., B. K. Dredge, G. Stefani, R. Zhong, R. J. Buckanovich, H. J. Okano, Y. Y. Yang, and R. B. Darnell. Nova-1 regulates neuron-specific alternative splicing and is essential for neuronal viability. *Neuron* 25: 359-371, 2000.

71. Johnston, D., D. A. Hoffman, J. C. Magee, N. P. Poolos, S. Watanabe, C. M. Colbert, and M. Migliore. Dendritic potassium channels in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *J Physiol.* 525: 75-81, 2000.

Jonas, P., J. Bischofberger, D. Fricker, and R. Miles. Interneuron Diversity series:
Fast in, fast out--temporal and spatial signal processing in hippocampal interneurons. *Trends Neurosci.* 27: 30-40, 2004.

Jones, K. A., B. Borowsky, J. A. Tamm, D. A. Craig, M. M. Durkin, M. Dai, W.
J. Yao, M. Johnson, C. Gunwaldsen, L. Y. Huang, C. Tang, Q. Shen, J. A. Salon, K.
Morse, T. Laz, K. E. Smith, D. Nagarathnam, S. A. Noble, T. A. Branchek, and C.
Gerald. GABA(B) receptors function as a heteromeric assembly of the subunits
GABA(B)R1 and GABA(B)R2. *Nature*. 396: 674-9, 1998.

74. Ju, W., W. Morishita, J. Tsui, G. Gaietta, T. J. Deerinck, S. R. Adams, C. C. Garner, R. Y. Tsien, M. H. Ellisman, and R. C. Malenka. Activity-dependent regulation of dendritic synthesis and trafficking of AMPA receptors. *Nat Neurosci.* 7: 244-53, 2004.

75. Kandel, E. R. The molecular biology of memory storage: a dialogue between genes and synaspes. *Science* 294: 1030-1038, 2001.

76. Kataoka, N., J. Yong, V. N. Kim, F. Velazquez, R. A. Perkinson, F. Wang, and G. Dreyfuss. Pre-mRNA splicing imprints mRNA in the nucleus with a novel RNA-binding protein that persists in the cytoplasm. *Mol Cell* 6: 673-682, 2000.

77. Kauer, J. A., R. C. Malenka, and R. A. Nicoll. A persistent postsynaptic
modification mediates long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Neuron* 1: 911-917, 1988.

78. Kaupmann, K., B. Malitschek, V. Schuler, J. Heid, W. Froestl, P. Beck, J. Mosbacher, S. Bischoff, A. Kulik, and R. Shigemoto. GABA(B)-receptor subtypes assemble into functional heteromeric complexes. *Nature* 396: 683-687, 1998a.

79. Kaupmann, K., V. Schuler, J. Mosbacher, S. Bischoff, H. Bittiger, J. Heid, W. Froestl, S. Leonhard, T. Pfaff, A. Karschin, and B. Bettler. Human gamma-aminobutyric acid type B receptors are differentially expressed and regulate inwardly rectifying K+ channels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*. 95: 14991-6, 1998b.

80. Kelleher, R. J. r., A. Govindarajan, and S. Tonegawa. Translational regulatory mechanisms in persistent forms of synaptic plasticity. *Neuron* 44: 59-73, 2004.

81. Kiebler, M. A., and L. DesGroseillers. Molecular insights into mRNA transport and local translation in the mammalian nervous system. *Neuron* 25: 19-28, 2000.

82. Kim, D., and H. Bang. Modulation of rat atrial G protein-coupled K+ channel function by phospholipids. *J Physiol.* 517: 59-74, 1999.

Kim, D., and A. Pleumsamran. Cytoplasmic unsaturated free fatty acids inhibit
ATP-dependent gating of the G protein-gated K(+) channel. *J Gen Physiol*. 115: 287-304,
2000.

84. Kim, M. O., S. Li, M. S. Park, and J. P. Hornung. Early fetal expression of GABA(B1) and GABA(B2) receptor mRNAs on the development of the rat central nervous system. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res.* 143: 47-55, 2003.

 Kislauskis, E. H., X. Zhu, and R. H. Singer. Sequences responsible for intracellular localization of beta-actin messenger RNA also affect cell phenotype. *J Cell Biol.* 127: 441-51, 1994.

86. Kloc, M., N. R. Zearfoss, and L. D. Etkin. Mechanisms of subcellular mRNA localization. *Cell* 108: 533-44, 2002.

Kobayashi, T., K. Ikeda, T. Ichikawa, S. Abe, S. Togashi, and T. Kumanishi.
Molecular cloning of a mouse G-protein-activated K+ channel (mGIRK1) and distinct distributions of three GIRK (GIRK1, 2 and 3) mRNAs in mouse brain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 208: 1166-73, 1995.

Kobayashi, T., K. Ikeda, H. Kojima, H. Niki, R. Yano, T. Yoshioka, and T.
 Kumanishi. Ethanol opens G-protein-activated inwardly rectifying K+ channels. *Nat Neurosci.* 2: 1091-7, 1999.

89. Kohler, M., H. C. Kornau, and P. H. Seeburg. The organization of the gene for the functionally dominant alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptor subunit GluR-B. *J Biol Chem* 269: 17367-70, 1994.

90. Kopysova, I. L., and D. Debanne. Critical role of axonal A-type K+ channels and axonal geometry in the gating of action potential propagation along CA3 pyramidal cell axons: a simulation study. *J Neurosci* 18: 7436-7451, 1998.

91. Kulik, A., I. Vida, R. Lujan, C. A. Haas, G. Lopez-Bendito, R. Shigemoto, and M.
Frotscher. Subcellular localization of metabotropic GABA(B) receptor subunits
GABA(B1a/b) and GABA(B2) in the rat hippocampus. *J Neurosci* 23: 11026-11035.,
2003.

92. Kuner, R., G. Kohr, S. Grunewald, G. Eisenhardt, A. Bach, and H. C. Kornau. Role of heteromer formation in GABAB receptor function. *Science*. 283: 74-7, 1999.

93. Kuzhikandathil, E. V., and G. S. Oxford. Classic D1 dopamine receptor antagonist R-(+)-7-chloro-8-hydroxy-3-methyl-1-phenyl-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-3benzaze pine hydrochloride (SCH23390) directly inhibits G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels. *Mol Pharmacol* 62: 119-126, 2002.

94. Laezza, F., J. J. Doherty, and R. Dingledine. Long-term depression in
hippocampal interneurons: joint requirement for pre- and postsynaptic events. *Science*285: 1411-1414, 1999.

95. Lavine, N., N. Ethier, J. N. Oak, L. Pei, F. Liu, P. Trieu, R. V. Rebois, M. Bouvier, T. E. Hebert, and H. H. Van Tol. G protein-coupled receptors form stable complexes with inwardly rectifying potassium channels and adenylyl cyclase. *J Biol Chem.* 277: 46010-9, 2002.

96. Leaney, J. L. Contribution of Kir3.1, Kir3.2A and Kir3.2C subunits to native G protein-gated inwardly rectifying potassium currents in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Eur J Neurosci.* 18: 2110-8, 2003.

97. Lesage, F., F. Duprat, M. Fink, E. Guillemare, T. Coppola, M. Lazdunski, and J.
P. Hugnot. Cloning provides evidence for a family of inward rectifier and G-protein coupled K+ channels in the brain. *FEBS Lett.* 353: 37-42, 1994.

98. Liao, Y. J., Y. N. Jan, and L. Y. Jan. Heteromultimerization of G-protein-gated inwardly rectifying K+ channel proteins GIRK1 and GIRK2 and their altered expression in weaver brain. *J Neurosci* 16: 7137-7150, 1996.

99. Ling, D. S., L. S. Benardo, P. A. Serrano, N. Blace, M. T. Kelly, J. F. Crary, and T. C. Sacktor. Protein kinase Mzeta is necessary and sufficient for LTP maintenance. *Nat Neurosci.* 5: 295-6, 2002.

100. Lisman, J., H. Schulman, and H. Cline. The molecular basis of CaMKII function in synaptic and behavioural memory. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 3: 175-190, 2002.

101. Liu, L., T. P. Wong, M. F. Pozza, K. Lingenhoehl, Y. Wang, M. Sheng, Y. P. Auberson, and Y. T. Wang. Role of NMDA receptor subtypes in governing the direction of hippocampal synaptic plasticity. *Science*. 304: 1021-4, 2004.

102. Lu, W., H. Man, W. Ju, W. S. Trimble, J. F. MacDonald, and Y. T. Wang. Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron*. 29: 243-54, 2001.

103. Lu, Y. M., I. M. Mansuy, E. R. Kandel, and J. Roder. Calcineurin-mediated LTD of GABAergic inhibition underlies the increased excitability of CA1 neurons associated with LTP. *Neuron* 26: 197-205, 2000.

104. Luscher, C., L. Y. Jan, M. Stoffel, R. C. Malenka, and R. A. Nicoll. G proteincoupled inwardly rectifying K+ channels (GIRKs) mediate postsynaptic but not presynaptic transmitter actions in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 19: 687-695, 1997.

105. Luscher, C., H. Xia, E. C. Beattie, R. C. Carroll, M. von Zastrow, R. C. Malenka, and R. A. Nicoll. Role of AMPA receptor cycling in synaptic transmission and plasticity. *Neuron* 24: 649-58, 1999.

106. Lynch, G., J. Larson, S. Kelso, G. Barrionuevo, and F. Schottler. Intracellular injections of EGTA block induction of hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Nature* 305: 719-20, 1983.

107. Lynch, M. A. Long-term potentiation and memory. *Physiol Rev* 84: 87-136, 2004.

108. Ma, D., N. Zerangue, K. Raab-Graham, S. R. Fried, Y. N. Jan, and L. Y. Jan. Diverse trafficking patterns due to multiple traffic motifs in G protein-activated inwardly rectifying potassium channels from brain and heart. *Neuron* 33: 715-729, 2002.

109. Malenka, R., C., , and M. F. Bear. LTP and LTD: An Embarrassment of Riches. Neuron 44: 5-21, 2004. 110. Malenka, R. C., J. A. Kauer, D. J. Perkel, M. D. Mauk, P. T. Kelly, R. A. Nicoll, and M. N. Waxham. An essential role for postsynaptic calmodulin and protein kinase activity in long-term potentiation. *Nature* 340: 554-557., 1989.

111. Malenka, R. C., J. A. Kauer, R. S. Zucker, and R. A. Nicoll. Postsynaptic calcium is sufficient for potentiation of hippocampal synaptic transmission. *Science* 242: 81-84, 1988.

112. Malenka, R. C., and R. A. Nicoll. Long-term potentiation--a decade of progress? *Science* 285: 1870-4, 1999.

113. Malinow, R. AMPA receptor trafficking and long-term potentiation. *Philos TransR Soc Lond B Biol Sci 358*: 707-714, 2003.

114. Malinow, R., and R. C. Malenka. AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 25: 103-126, 2002.

115. Malinow, R., H. Schulman, and R. W. Tsien. Inhibition of postsynaptic PKC or CaMKII blocks induction but not expression of LTP. *Science* 245: 862-866, 1989.

116. Mammen, A. L., K. Kameyama, K. W. Roche, and R. L. Huganir.
Phosphorylation of the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole4-propionic acid
receptor GluR1 subunit by calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II. *J Biol Chem* 272:
32588-33, 1997.

Man, H. Y., Q. Wang, W. Y. Lu, W. Ju, G. Ahmadian, L. Liu, S. D'Souza, T. P.
Wong, C. Taghibiglou, J. Lu, L. E. Becker, L. Pei, F. Liu, M. P. Wymann, J. F.
MacDonald, and Y. T. Wang. Activation of PI3-kinase is required for AMPA receptor insertion during LTP of mEPSCs in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 38: 611-24, 2003.

118. Mao, J., X. Wang, F. Chen, R. Wang, A. Rojas, Y. Shi, H. Piao, and C. Jiang. Molecular basis for the inhibition of G protein-coupled inward rectifier K(+) channels by protein kinase C. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 101: 1087-92, 2004.

119. Margeta-Mitrovic, M., Y. N. Jan, and L. Y. Jan. A trafficking checkpoint controlsGABA(B) receptor heterodimerization. *Neuron* 27: 97-106, 2000.

120. Mark, M. D., and S. Herlitze. G-protein mediated gating of inward-rectifier K+ channels. *Eur J Biochem*. 267: 5830-6, 2000.

Markram, H., M. Toledo-Rodriguez, Y. Wang, A. Gupta, G. Silberberg, and C.
Wu. Interneurons of the neocortical inhibitory system. *Nat Rev Neurosci 5*: 793-807, 2004.

122. Martin, K. C., M. Barad, and E. R. Kandel. Local protein synthesis and its role in synapse-specific plasticity. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 10: 587-92, 2000.

Martin, S. C., S. J. Russek, and D. H. Farb. Human GABA(B)R genomic
structure: evidence for splice variants in GABA(B)R1 but not GABA(B)R2. Gene 278:
63-79, 2001.

124. Martin, S. C., J. L. Steiger, M. C. Gravielle, H. R. Lyons, S. J. Russek, and D. H. Farb. Differential expression of gamma-aminobutyric acid type B receptor subunit mRNAs in the developing nervous system and receptor coupling to adenylyl cyclase in embryonic neurons. *J Comp Neurol* 473: 16-29, 2004.

125. Mayford, M., D. Baranes, K. Podsypanina, and E. R. Kandel. The 3'-untranslated region of CaMKII alpha is a cis-acting signal for the localization and translation of mRNA in dendrites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 93: 13250-5, 1996.

126. McBain, C. J., and A. Fisahn. Interneurons unbound. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* 2: 11-23, 2001.

127. McBain, C. J., T. F. Freund, and I. Mody. Glutamatergic synapses onto
hippocampal interneurons: precision timing without lasting plasticity. *Trends Neurosci*22: 228-235, 1999.

128. McGahon, B., C. Maguire, A. Kelly, and M. A. Lynch. Activation of p42 mitogen-activated protein kinase by arachidonic acid and trans-1-amino-cyclopentyl-1,3dicarboxylate impacts on long-term potentiation in the dentate gyrus in the rat: analysis of age-related changes. *Neuroscience* 90: 1167-75, 1999.

129. McMahon, L. L., and J. A. Kauer. Hippocampal interneurons express a novel form of synaptic plasticity. *Neuron* 18: 295-305, 1997.

130. Medina, I., G. Krapivinsky, S. Arnold, P. Kovoor, L. Krapivinsky, and D. E.
Clapham. A switch mechanism for G beta gamma activation of I(KACh). *J Biol Chem.*275: 29709-16, 2000.

131. Mellor, J., R. A. Nicoll, and D. Schmitz. Mediation of hippocampal mossy fiber long-term potentiation by presynaptic Ih channels. *Science* 295: 143-7, 2002.

132. Miller, S., M. Yasuda, J. K. Coats, Y. Jones, M. E. Martone, and M. Mayford. Disruption of dendritic translation of CaMKIIalpha impairs stabilization of synaptic plasticity and memory consolidation. *Neuron* 36: 507-19, 2002.

133. Mitrovic, I., M. Margeta-Mitrovic, S. Bader, M. Stoffel, L. Y. Jan, and A. I.
Basbaum. Contribution of GIRK2-mediated postsynaptic signaling to opiate and alpha 2adrenergic analgesia and analgesic sex differences. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*. 100: 271-6, 2003. 134. Morishige, K. I., A. Inanobe, N. Takahashi, Y. Yoshimoto, H. Kurachi, A.

Miyake, Y. Tokunaga, T. Maeda, and Y. Kurachi. G protein-gated K+ channel (GIRK1) protein is expressed presynaptically in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 220: 300-5, 1996.

135. Mott, D. D., and D. V. Lewis. The pharmacology and function of central GABAB receptors. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* 36: 97-223, 1994.

136. Mullner, C., D. Vorobiov, A. K. Bera, Y. Uezono, D. Yakubovich, B.
Frohnwieser-Steinecker, N. Dascal, and W. Schreibmayer. Heterologous facilitation of G
protein-activated K(+) channels by beta-adrenergic stimulation via cAMP-dependent
protein kinase. J Gen Physiol. 115: 547-58, 2000.

137. Mullner, C., D. Yakubovich, C. W. Dessauer, D. Platzer, and W. Schreibmayer.
Single channel analysis of the regulation of GIRK1/GIRK4 channels by protein
phosphorylation. *Biophys J.* 84: 1399-409, 2003.

138. Musleh, W., X. Bi, G. Tocco, S. Yaghoubi, and M. Baudry. Glycine-induced long-term potentiation is associated with structural and functional modifications of alphaamino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*. 94: 9451-6, 1997.

Nehring, R. B., E. Wischmeyer, F. Doring, R. W. Veh, M. Sheng, and A.
Karschin. Neuronal inwardly rectifying K(+) channels differentially couple to PDZ
proteins of the PSD-95/SAP90 family. *J Neurosci.* 20: 156-62, 2000.

140. Nicoll, R. A. Expression mechanisms underlying long-term potentiation: a postsynaptic view. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 358*: 721-726, 2003.

141. Nikolov, E. N., and T. T. Ivanova-Nikolova. Coordination of membrane
excitability through a GIRK1 signaling complex in the atria. *J Biol Chem.* 279: 23630-6,
2004.

142. Oliva, A. A. J., M. Jiang, T. Lam, K. L. Smith, and J. W. Swann. Novel hippocampal interneuronal subtypes identified using transgenic mice that express green fluorescent protein in GABAergic interneurons. *J Neurosci.* 20: 3354-68, 2000.

143. Ostroff, L. E., J. C. Fiala, B. Allwardt, and K. M. Harris. Polyribosomes redistribute from dendritic shafts into spines with enlarged synapses during LTP in developing rat hippocampal slices. *Neuron* 33: 535-45, 2002.

144. Otani, S., C. J. Marshall, W. P. Tate, G. V. Goddard, and W. C. Abraham.
Maintenance of long-term potentiation in rat dentate gyrus requires protein synthesis but not messenger RNA synthesis immediately post-tetanization. *Neuroscience* 28: 519-26, 1989.

145. Ouyang, Y., D. Kantor, K. M. Harris, E. M. Schuman, and M. B. Kennedy.
Visualization of the distribution of autophosphorylated calcium/calmodulin-dependent
protein kinase II after tetanic stimulation in the CA1 area of the hippocampus. J
Neurosci. 17: 5416-27, 1997.

Pagano, A., G. Rovelli, J. Mosbacher, T. Lohmann, B. Duthey, D. Stauffer, D.
Ristig, V. Schuler, I. Meigel, C. Lampert, T. Stein, L. Prezeau, J. Blahos, J. Pin, W.
Froestl, R. Kuhn, J. Heid, K. Kaupmann, and B. Bettler. C-terminal interaction is
essential for surface trafficking but not for heteromeric assembly of GABA(b) receptors. *J Neurosci.* 21: 1189-202, 2001.

147. Palacios, I. M. RNA processing: splicing and the cytoplasmic localisation of mRNA. *Curr Biol* 12: R50-52, 2002.

148. Parra, P., A. I. Gulyas, and R. Miles. How many subtypes of inhibitory cells in the hippocampus? *Neuron.* 20: 983-93, 1998.

149. Paulsen, O., and T. J. Sejnowski. Natural patterns of activity and long-term synaptic plasticity. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* 10: 172-9, 2000.

150. Perez, Y., C. A. Chapman, G. Woodhall, R. Robitaille, and J. C. Lacaille. Differential induction of long-lasting potentiation of inhibitory postsynaptic potentials by theta patterned stimulation versus 100-Hz tetanization in hippocampal pyramidal cells in vitro. *Neuroscience 90*: 747-757, 1999.

151. Petit-Jacques, J., J. L. Sui, and D. E. Logothetis. Synergistic activation of G protein-gated inwardly rectifying potassium channels by the betagamma subunits of G proteins and Na(+) and Mg(2+) ions. *J Gen Physiol.* 114: 673-84, 1999.

152. Pfaff, T., B. Malitschek, K. Kaupmann, L. Prezeau, J. P. Pin, B. Bettler, and A. Karschin. Alternative splicing generates a novel isoform of the rat metabotropic
GABA(B)R1 receptor. *Eur J Neurosci* 11: 2874-2882, 1999.

153. Piomelli, D. The molecular logic of endocannabinoid signalling. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 4: 873-884, 2003.

154. Pittenger, C., and E. R. Kandel. In search of general mechanisms for long-lasting plasticity: Aplysia and the hippocampus. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 358: 757-63, 2003.

Ponce, A., E. Bueno, C. Kentros, E. Vega-Saenz de Miera, A. Chow, D. Hillman,
 S. Chen, L. Zhu, M. B. Wu, X. Wu, B. Rudy, and W. B. Thornhill. G-protein-gated

121

inward rectifier K+ channel proteins (GIRK1) are present in the soma and dendrites as well as in nerve terminals of specific neurons in the brain. *J Neurosci.* 16: 1990-2001, 1996.

156. Pranzatelli, M. R. The neurobiology of the opsoclonus-myoclonus syndrome. *Clin Neuropharmacol.* 15: 186-228, 1992.

157. Qian, N., and T. J. Sejnowski. When is an inhibitory synapse effective? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87: 8145-8149, 1990.

158. Robbins, M. J., A. R. Calver, A. K. Filippov, W. D. Hirst, R. B. Russell, M. D. Wood, S. Nasir, A. Couve, D. A. Brown, S. J. Moss, and M. N. Pangalos. GABA(B2) is essential for g-protein coupling of the GABA(B) receptor heterodimer. *J Neurosci.* 21: 8043-52, 2001.

159. Royer, S., and D. Pare. Conservation of total synaptic weight through balanced synaptic depression and potentiation. *Nature*. 422: 518-22, 2003.

160. Salter, M. W., and L. V. Kalia. Src kinases: a hub for NMDA receptor regulation. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 45: 720-8, 2004.

161. Scanziani, M. GABA spillover activates postsynaptic GABA(B) receptors to control rhythmic hippocampal activity. *Neuron* 25: 673-680, 2000.

162. Scheetz, A. J., A. C. Nairn, and M. Constantine-Paton. NMDA receptor-mediated control of protein synthesis at developing synapses. *Nat Neurosci.* 3: 211-6, 2000.

163. Schwarz, D. A., G. Barry, S. D. Eliasof, R. E. Petroski, P. J. Conlon, and R. A.

Maki. Characterization of gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor GABAB(1e), a GABAB(1) splice variant encoding a truncated receptor. *J Biol Chem.* 275: 32174-81, 2000.

164. Serrano, P., Y. Yao, and T. C. Sacktor. Persistent phosphorylation by protein kinase Mzeta maintains late-phase long-term potentiation. *J Neurosci.* 25: 1979-84, 2005.
165. Sharon, D., D. Vorobiov, and N. Dascal. Positive and negative coupling of the metabotropic glutamate receptors to a G protein-activated K+ channel, GIRK, in Xenopus oocytes. *J Gen Physiol.* 109: 477-90, 1997.

166. Sheng, M., and M. J. Kim. Postsynaptic signaling and plasticity mechanisms. *Science* 298: 776-780, 2002.

167. Shi, S., Y. Hayashi, J. A. Esteban, and R. Malinow. Subunit-specific rules governing AMPA receptor trafficking to synapses in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Cell* 105: 331-43, 2001.

168. Slesinger, P. A., M. Stoffel, Y. N. Jan, and L. Y. Jan. Defective gammaaminobutyric acid type B receptor-activated inwardly rectifying K+ currents in cerebellar granule cells isolated from weaver and Girk2 null mutant mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94: 12210-12217, 1997.

169. Smith, W. B., S. R. Starck, R. W. Roberts, and E. M. Schuman. Dopaminergic stimulation of local protein synthesis enhances surface expression of GluR1 and synaptic transmission in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron*. 45: 765-79, 2005.

170. Song, I., and R. L. Huganir. Regulation of AMPA receptors during synaptic plasticity. *Trends neruosci* 25: 579-88, 2002.

171. Spauschus, A., K. U. Lentes, E. Wischmeyer, E. Dissmann, C. Karschin, and A. Karschin. A G-protein-activated inwardly rectifying K+ channel (GIRK4) from human hippocampus associates with other GIRK channels. *J Neurosci.* 16: 930-8, 1996.

123

172. Stanfield, P. R., S. Nakajima, and Y. Nakajima. Constitutively active and Gprotein coupled inward rectifier K+ channels: Kir2.0 and Kir3.0. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol.* 145: 47-179, 2002.

173. Steiger, J. L., S. Bandyopadhyay, D. H. Farb, and S. J. Russek. cAMP response element-binding protein, activating transcription factor-4, and upstream stimulatory factor differentially control hippocampal GABABR1a and GABABR1b subunit gene expression through alternative promoters. *J Neurosci* 24: 6115-6126, 2004.

174. Stein, V., D. R. House, D. S. Bredt, and R. A. Nicoll. Postsynaptic density-95 mimics and occludes hippocampal long-term potentiation and enhances long-term depression. *J Neurosci* 23: 5503-5506, 2003.

175. Steward, O., and W. B. Levy. Preferential localization of polyribosomes under the base of dendritic spines in granule cells of the dentate gyrus. *J Neurosci* 2: 284-91, 1982.

176. Steward, O., and E. M. Schuman. Compartmentalized synthesis and degradation of proteins in neurons. *Neuron.* 40: 347-59, 2003.

177. Steward, O., and E. M. Schuman. Protein synthesis at synaptic sites on dendrites. Annu Rev Neurosci. 24: 299-325, 2001.

178. Sui, J. L., K. W. Chan, and D. E. Logothetis. Na+ activation of the muscarinic K+ channel by a G-protein-independent mechanism. *J Gen Physiol.* 108: 381-91, 1996.

179. Tacke, R., and J. L. Manley. Determinants of SR protein specificity. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 11: 358-62, 1999.

180. Taglialatela, M., E. Ficker, B. A. Wible, and A. M. Brown. C-terminus determinants for Mg2+ and polyamine block of the inward rectifier K+ channel IRK1. *EMBO J.* 14: 5532-41, 1995. 181. Takigawa, T., and C. Alzheimer. G protein-activated inwardly rectifying K+
(GIRK) currents in dendrites of rat neocortical pyramidal cells. *J Physiol.* 517: 385-90,
1999.

182. Takigawa, T., and C. Alzheimer. Phasic and tonic attenuation of EPSPs by inward rectifier K+ channels in rat hippocampal pyramidal cells. *J Physiol*. 539: 67-75, 2002.

183. Tamas, G., A. Lorincz, A. Simon, and J. Szabadics. Identified sources and targets of slow inhibition in the neocortex. *Science* 299: 1902-1905, 2003.

184. Tang, S. J., and E. M. Schuman. Protein synthesis in the dendrite. *Philos Trans R* Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 357: 521-9, 2002.

185. Ule, J., K. B. Jensen, M. Ruggiu, A. Mele, A. Ule, and R. B. Darnell. CLIP identifies Nova-regulated RNA networks in the brain. *Science* 302: 1212-1215, 2003.

186. Ule, J., A. Ule, J. Spencer, A. Williams, J. S. Hu, M. Cline, H. Wang, C. Fraser,
M. Ruggiu, J. Blume, and R. B. Darnell. Nova regulates brain-specific splicing of RNA's encoding complex synaptic networks. *submitted.*, 2005.

187. Vida, I., K. Halasy, C. Szinyei, P. Somogyi, and E. H. Buhl. Unitary IPSPs evoked by interneurons at the stratum radiatum-stratum lacunosum-moleculare border in the CA1 area of the rat hippocampus in vitro. *J Physiol* 506: 755-773, 1998.

188. Wei, J., M. E. Hodes, R. Piva, Y. Feng, Y. Wang, B. Ghetti, and S. R. Dlouhy. Characterization of murine Girk2 transcript isoforms: structure and differential expression. *Genomics* 51: 379-390, 1998.

189. Weiler, I. J., S. A. Irwin, A. Y. Klintsova, C. M. Spencer, A. D. Brazelton, K. Miyashiro, T. A. Comery, B. Patel, J. Eberwine, and W. T. Greenough. Fragile X mental

125

retardation protein is translated near synapses in response to neurotransmitter activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 94: 5395-400, 1997.

190. Wells, D. G., X. Dong, E. M. Quinlan, Y. S. Huang, M. F. Bear, J. D. Richter, and J. R. Fallon. A role for the cytoplasmic polyadenylation element in NMDA receptorregulated mRNA translation in neurons. *J Neurosci.* 21: 9541-8, 2001.

191. Wenthold, R. J., R. S. Petralia, J. I. Blahos, and A. S. Niedzielski. Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. *J Neurosci.* 16: 1982-9, 1996.

192. White, J. H., A. Wise, M. J. Main, A. Green, N. J. Fraser, G. H. Disney, A. A. Barnes, P. Emson, S. M. Foord, and F. H. Marshall. Heterodimerization is required for the formation of a functional GABA(B) receptor. *Nature*. 396: 679-82, 1998.

193. Wickman, K., W. T. Pu, and D. E. Clapham. Structural characterization of the mouse Girk genes. *Gene.* 284: 241-50, 2002.

194. Wilson, R. I., and R. A. Nicoll. Endogenous cannabinoids mediate retrograde signalling at hippocampal synapses. *Nature* 410: 588-592, 2001.

195. Wu, L. G., and P. Saggau. GABAB receptor-mediated presynaptic inhibition in guinea-pig hippocampus is caused by reduction of presynaptic Ca2+ influx. *J Physiol.*485: 649-57, 1995.

196. Yamada, M., A. Inanobe, and Y. Kurachi. G protein regulation of potassium ion channels. *Pharmacol Rev* 50: 723-760, 1998.

197. Yang, J., Y. N. Jan, and L. Y. Jan. Determination of the subunit stoichiometry of an inwardly rectifying potassium channel. *Neuron.* 15: 1441-7, 1995.

198. Yang, Y. Y., G. L. Yin, and R. B. Darnell. The neuronal RNA-binding protein Nova-2 is implicated as the autoantigen targeted in POMA patients with dementia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95: 13254-13259, 1998.

199. Yasuda, H., A. L. Barth, D. Stellwagen, and R. C. Malenka. A developmental switch in the signaling cascades for LTP induction. *Nat Neurosci* 6: 15-6, 2003.

200. Zalfa, F., M. Giorgi, B. Primerano, A. Moro, A. Di Penta, S. Reis, B. Oostra, and C. Bagni. The fragile X syndrome protein FMRP associates with BC1 RNA and regulates the translation of specific mRNAs at synapses. *Cell.* 112: 317-27, 2003.

201. Zhang, J., R. E. Campbell, A. Y. Ting, and R. Y. Tsien. Creating new fluorescent probes for cell biology. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 3: 906-18, 2002.

202. Zhu, J. J., Y. Qin, M. Zhao, L. Van Aelst, and R. Malinow. Ras and Rap control AMPA receptor trafficking during synaptic plasticity. *Cell* 110: 443-55, 2002.

LIDRARY Phy Let 4 com د. در سبه ۲۰ بر بر سبه ۲۰ بر به ANVION a Branet osynan f inge ML Stranger Linger st contractions the states SayFrancisco LI RADA C. J. S. Li C. Kavan kulu s - esperation and the States and the -----See 20 th

